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Purpose of the Report and Target 
Audience
The annual report highlights our achievements 
during 2011–12 against our 2010–12 Strategic 
Plan and the key deliverables outlined in 
Budget Paper No. 3, 2011–12.

This report has been prepared to meet the 
requirements of s. 28 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act, s. 12 
of the Financial Management Act and other 
statutory agency reporting requirements. It 
provides the minister, the Northern Territory 
Legislative Assembly and other interested 
parties with information about:

•	 our primary functions and responsibilities

•	 significant activities and achievements for 
the year

•	 our fiscal management and performance.

The Commissioner for Public Employment 
also provides a separate report on human 
resource management in the Northern 
Territory Public Sector in the State of the 
Service Report as required by s. 18 of the 
Public Sector Employment and Management 
Act.

Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
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Mr Terry Mills MLA

Minister for Public Employment 
GPO Box 3146 
DARWIN NT 0801

Dear Minister Mills

RE: THE OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER FOR PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT  
2011–12 ANNUAL REPORT

In accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act, I submit 
the annual report on the activities and achievements of the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Pursuant to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act, Financial Management Act, 
Information Act and Carers Recognition Act, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief:

(a) Proper records of all transactions affecting the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment are kept and all employees under my control observe the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act, the Financial Management Regulations and the Treasurer’s 
Directions.

(b) Procedures within the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment afford proper 
internal control, and these procedures are recorded in the Accounting and Property Manual, 
which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management 
Act.

(c) There is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major 
error in, or omission from, the accounts and records.

(d) In accordance with s.15 of the Financial Management Act, the internal audit capacity 
available to the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment is adequate.

(e) The financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared from proper 
accounts and records and in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions.

Letter to the Minister
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(f) All Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been 
satisfied.

(g) In respect of my responsibilities pursuant to s.131 of the Information Act, I advise that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, processes have been implemented to achieve compliance 
with the archives and records management provisions as prescribed in Part 9 of the 
Information Act.

(h) Obligations under the Carers Recognition Act and NT Carers Charter have been satisfied.

It is a requirement of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act that you lay a copy of 
this report before the Legislative Assembly within six sitting days of you receiving it.

Yours sincerely

KEN SIMPSON 
Commissioner for Public Employment

28 September 2012
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Commissioner’s Foreword:  
2011–12 In Review
Welcome to the 2011–12 annual report of 
the NT Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE or ‘the agency’). This 
report provides an account of the agency’s 
achievements in the year past and also 
outlines priorities for the year ahead.

The report includes a succinct overview of the 
agency, its purpose, priorities, performance 
and people. The structure of the performance 
section is aligned with the agency budget 
outputs and the strategies in the 2010–12 
Strategic Plan, which incorporates the relevant 
government priorities.

When announcing my appointment to 
the Commissioner’s role from September 
2011, government also announced the 
establishment of a Public Sector Development 
Board to “provide advice and assistance to the 
Commissioner” and “to lead strategic reforms 
in partnership with the chief executives to 
enhance the performance and develop the 
capability of the Public Sector.” 

New priorities identified by the Chief Minister 
and the Minister for Public Employment, input 
from the board – which met for the first time in 
November 2011 – and consultation with chief 

executives and unions, led to a revision of the 
OCPE’s priorities in early 2012. As a result, 
projects were initiated in the first half of 2012 to: 

•	 streamline the Job Evaluation System

•	 achieve better management of some short 
term employment contracts

•	 develop a service-wide collaborative 
training and development framework

•	 develop a mobility program.

After two and a half years of review and 
revision, the amended Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act came into 
effect in January 2012. A significant change 
was the inclusion of objectives and public 
sector principles in the Act. Other changes 
included the simplification of discipline and 
inability processes, an increased emphasis on 
performance management and development 
and a streamlining of appeals arrangements. 

Five enterprise agreements were concluded 
in 2011–12: Nurses and Midwives, Darwin 
Port Corporation Marine Pilots, Darwin 
Port Corporation (general employees), 
Dental Officers and Prison Officers. All were 
renegotiated and agreed by a significant 
majority of employees without industrial 
disruption.

The results of the biennial Northern Territory 
Public Sector (NTPS) Employee Survey, 
conducted in September 2011, were published 
in February 2012. The results provided useful 
feedback for OCPE at the whole-of-service 
level, and for individual agencies on staff 
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perceptions about their work environment, 
human resource management and 
development. 

Strong positive findings at the NTPS level 
included the strength of commitment to 
community service, the high quality of working 
relationships and mutual respect and staff 
belief that they make an important contribution 
to the achievement of agency objectives. Key 
areas for improvement across much of the 
sector were application of the merit principle 
in selection, performance management and 
change management.

Leadership development programs 
coordinated by OCPE all achieved strong 
participation rates in 2011–12: the Executive 
Leadership Program, Future Leaders 
Program, 360-Degree Feedback Program, 
Public Sector Management Program, 
Discovery – Women as Leaders and the 
Lookrukin and Kigaruk Indigenous Leadership 
programs. Encouragingly, the percentage 
of executive positions held by women in the 
NTPS reached 44% in 2011–12, the highest 
for any Australian public service.

The Chief Minister’s 2011 Awards for 
Excellence in the Public Sector were 
announced in November 2011, bestowing 
well-earned recognition on high-performing 
teams and individuals from across the NTPS.

The reporting period saw the successful 
conclusion of a capacity-building project 
for the Timor Leste Civil Service. Under 
the project, selected senior Timorese civil 
servants undertook placements in the NTPS 

and heard presentations on core public 
service issues. A revised program in which 
NTPS presenters would travel to Timor Leste 
with AusAid funding has been negotiated and 
will commence in early 2013.

I take this opportunity to acknowledge the 
contribution of the previous Commissioner, 
Ken Simpson, who commenced leave pending 
retirement in July 2011. Ken had held the 
position of Commissioner for the previous five 
years.

In closing I want to express my appreciation 
for the contributions of a number of 
stakeholders without whom this office would 
be unable to deliver on its mission: Agency 
chief executives and human resources staff, 
unions and staff associations, members 
of the Public Sector Development Board, 
officers from Fair Work Australia, the Chamber 
of Commerce NT, the Minister for Public 
Employment, and the talented and committed 
staff of OCPE.

Graham Symons

Commissioner for Public Employment

3 September 2012
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Functions of the Commissioner
Estimated cost of service: $7.78 million

Actual cost of service: $8.03 million
Staffing: 31.2

Overview
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) is a central agency 
within the Northern Territory Public Sector 
(NTPS) with sector-wide responsibility for 
providing an effective employment framework 
for the management and development of the 
NTPS workforce.

The Commissioner for Public Employment is 
the Chief Executive of the agency and, under 
s. 12 of the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act (PSEMA), is deemed to be 
the employer of all employees in the NTPS.

The role of the Commissioner and the OCPE 
is to provide leadership and assistance to the 
Northern Territory Government (NTG) and its 
agencies in all matters to do with managing 
the government’s workforce. OCPE also has 
some responsibilities for regulation of private 
sector employment.

The functions of the Commissioner, as defined 
in s. 13 of the PSEMA, are to:

•	 determine the respective designations 
and other terms and conditions (including 
the remuneration) of employment for 
employees

•	 subject to the PSEMA, promote, uphold and 
ensure adherence to the merit principle in 
the selection of persons as employees, and 
the promotion and transfer of employees

	determine practices and procedures 
relating to the recruitment and appointment 
of persons as employees, the promotion of 
employees and the employment, transfer, 
secondment, redeployment, discipline and 
termination of employment of employees 
and any other matters relating to human 
resource management

	consult with and advise chief executive 
officers (CEOs) in relation to the 
development and application of appropriate 
human resource practices and procedures 
in their agencies

	consult with CEOs in relation to the 
application of public employment policies in 
their agencies

	advise the minister on, and monitor the 
implementation of, public employment 
policies

	develop uniform systems, standards and 
procedures for determining and allocating 
designations to employees in their 
agencies and assist CEOs in applying 
those systems, standards and procedures

	assist CEOs in evaluating the performance 
of employees employed in their agencies

	coordinate training, education and 
development programs in conjunction with 
CEOs

	conduct or cause to be conducted inquiries 
and investigations into, and reviews of, the 
management practices of agencies
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	consult with CEOs on the development of 
appropriate standards and programs of 
occupational health and safety

	assist CEOs in performing their functions 
relating to the management of their 
agencies

	perform other functions imposed by or 
under the PSEMA or any other Act, or as 
directed by the minister. 

Administrative Arrangements 
Order
The Administrative Arrangements Order gives 
the OCPE principal responsibility for the 
following areas of government administration:

•	 public sector

•	 industrial relations

•	 development and coordination of public 
and private employment strategies.

Legislation
The Administrative Arrangements Order gives 
the OCPE responsibility for the following Acts 
and Regulations:

Acts

	Annual Leave Act

	Long Service Leave Act

	Police Administration Act (Part III)

	Prisons (Arbitral Tribunal) Act

	Public Employment (Mobility) Act

	Public Holidays Act

	Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act

Regulations

•	 Public Holidays Regulations

•	 Public Sector Employment and 
Management Regulations
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The OCPE’s Strategic Plan 2012–14
The OCPE Strategic Plan was updated 
in early 2012 following consultation with 
stakeholders. The plan includes some 
strategies from the 2010–12 Strategic Plan 
(highlighted in blue) that remained relevant for 

2011–12 but were not included in the 2012–14 
Strategic Plan.

The strategies in the table below provide the 
structure for performance reporting in the next 
section of the report.

OCPE held four HR Forums throughout the 2011-2012 cycle.
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OCPE STRATEGIC PLAN 2012–14 and 2010–12

Vision

A skilled, fair and creative 
public sector that provides 
the highest quality service 
to the government and 
people of the Northern 
Territory.

Purpose

To lead and engage the 
sector in the development 
of a professional and 
strategically-aligned 
workforce through:

•	 developing and driving 
the implementation of 
standards and policies

•	 determining 
designations 
and conditions of 
employment

•	 delivering key enabling 
programs

•	 collecting, analysing 
and providing 
information on key 
aspects of human 
resources management 
and development

•	 managing an appeals 
and grievance review 
function

Values

•	 respect and 
consideration

•	 ethical behaviour and 
accountability

•	 equity and diversity

•	 innovation and 
continuous learning

•	 client focus

•	 high performance

Strategic 
Priorities

Strategies

Position the 
NTPS as an 
attractive 
employer

•	 negotiate and implement enterprise agreements in line with 
NTG Wages Policy 

•	 review and implement a revised Indigenous Employment 
and Career Development Strategy 

•	 review and implement a revised Willing and Able Strategy 

•	 promote the Women in Leadership Framework

•	 support and implement a workforce planning framework

•	 review use of short term employment contracts
Drive public 
sector reform

•	 implement changes from PSEMA amendments

•	 develop and implement a mobility program

•	 support a culture of innovation

•	 review and implement a revised Executive Leadership 
Development Framework

•	 improve change management practices

•	 streamline Job Evaluation System processes and improve 
accuracy

•	 minimise PSEMA ‘red tape’
Promote and 
support the 
implementation 
of public sector 
principlesand 
standards

•	 improve performance management practices across the 
NTPS 

•	 strengthen the understanding and application of the merit 
principle across the NTPS 

•	 promote an NTPS culture in which diversity is valued and all 
employees are treated with respect 

•	 monitor the capacity and performance of the NTPS, 
including benchmarking

•	 ensure fair and equitable mechanisms for the handling of 
complaints and appeals

•	 co-ordinate the development of an appropriate suite of cross 
cultural training for the NTPS

Develop 
public sector 
performance 
and capacity

•	 develop and implement a knowledge management strategy

•	 develop and implement a capability and leadership 
framework

•	 build Human Resource Management, Development and 
Industrial Relations capacity across the sector

•	 develop a collaborative NTPS training and development 
framework

•	 develop and implement common core NTPS orientation 
content

•	 develop Human Resource indicators and promote analysis 
of key data
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Performance Reporting

Performance 
Reporting
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Key Achievements 2011–12
•	 Negotiated five workplace agreements 

within the NT Wages Policy for nurses, 
Darwin Port Corporation employees, 
marine pilots, prison officers and dentists.

	Passed the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Amendment Bill amending 
the Act effective from 1 January 2012.

	Completed amendments to the subordinate 
legislation as a result of amendments to the 
Act.

	Delivered an information and 
communication campaign and training to 
stakeholders to support the amendments to 
the Act and subordinate legislation.

	Completed a pay equity audit of NTPS 
employment classifications.

	Oversaw implementation of the harmonised 
national occupational health and safety 
legislation in the NTPS.

	Commenced a major review of the Job 
Evaluation System to simplify procedures, 
improve accuracy and significantly reduce 
time taken for the process.

	Coordinated the provision of a range of 
leadership development programs:

-- Executive Leadership Program: 33 
graduates

-- Future Leaders Program: 33 graduates

-- Discovery – Women as Leaders: 21 
graduates

-- Kigaruk Indigenous Men: 10 graduates

-- Lookrukin Indigenous Women: 26 
commenced

-- 360-Degree Feedback: 74 completed 
(including two agency programs)

-- Australia and New Zealand School of 
Government (ANZSOG) workshops 
‘Organisational Transitions’, 
‘Leadership for Change’, ‘Rethinking 
Service Delivery’ and ‘Working Across 
Organisational Boundaries’, which 
were attended by a total of 217 
participants.

	Developed a Mobility Program for 
implementation in 2012–13.

	Commenced development of a whole-
of-service training and development 
framework.

	Developed a service-wide framework for 
reward and recognition and managed the 
Chief Minister’s Awards for Excellence in 
the Public Sector.

	Completed delivery of the Timor-Leste 
Public Sector Internship Scheme.

	Established and supported the Public 
Sector Development Board.

	Responded to an increase in promotion 
appeals from 56 to 156, while maintaining 
the average time for completion at less 
than six weeks.

	Developed a new Merit Selection Guide 
and developed and commenced delivery of 
training on merit selection that has received 
positive feedback from agencies.
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Performance Against Key Deliverables
The agency’s key deliverables for each 
output are outlined in Budget Paper No.3 for 
2011–12, pages 128–9. The following is a 
summary of the OCPE’s performance against 
each deliverable.

Employee Relations
The minister advised that Employee Relations 
services were provided to his satisfaction with 
respect to quality and timeliness on over 95% 
of occasions, thus meeting the performance 
requirements in Budget Paper No.3.

Similarly, feedback from 16 major agency 
chief executives was that Employee Relations 
services were rated ’adequate’ to ’very good’, 
with over 80% of respondents rating services 
’good’ or ’very good’ (see Figure 4).

Figure 1 – Employee Relations – 
performance feedback.
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A comparison of feedback from agencies over the last 
four years (averaged for the output and adjusted for 
scale differences) shows a steady improvement in the 
feedback on a scale of 0-4 (where 4 represents very 
good service) over that period.
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A comparison of feedback from agencies over the last 
four years (averaged for the output and adjusted for 
scale differences) shows a steady improvement in the 
feedback on a scale of 0-4 (where 4 represents very 
good service) over that period.

Workforce Planning & Development
The minister advised that Workforce Planning 
& Development (WPD) services were provided 
to his satisfaction with respect to quality and 
timeliness on over 95% of occasions, thus 
meeting the performance requirements in 
Budget Paper No.3.

Feedback showed that 96.5% of responses 
from the 16 major agencies rated WPD 
services as ‘adequate’ to ‘very good’, meeting 
the Budget Paper No.3 benchmark. The four-
year comparison of agency feedback shows a 
steady improvement over that period.

Figure 2 – Workforce Planning & 
Development – performance feedback.
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The performance of the NTPS against the 
other three WPD key deliverables was as 
follows:

Key Deliverables 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 Target

Percentage of NTPS employees who:

•	 are Indigenous 8.1% 8.1% 8.1% 8.4% 10%

•	 have a disability 1.8%* 1.5%* 1.4%* 5%# 4+%

•	 are women in executive positions 40% 40% 43% 44% 40+%

*Data from PIPS self-reporting 
#Data from 2011 NTPS Employee Survey

The percentage of NTPS employees  
self-identifying as Indigenous increased in  
2011–12 for the first time in four years, but 
remained below the target of 10% for 2012 
established in government’s Closing the Gap 
strategy. 

The actual trend of numbers of NTPS 
employees with a disability is difficult to 
ascertain as the self-identification data in the 

Personnel Information and Payroll System 
(PIPS) represents a significant under-
estimate. For 2011–12, the result from the 
2011 NTPS Employee Survey has been used 
as the more reliable figure.

The percentage of executive positions filled by 
women increased again in 2011–12 to reach 
44%, the highest for any jurisdiction.
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Appeals & Grievance Review
The minister advised that Appeals & 
Grievance Review (AGR) services were 
provided to his satisfaction with respect 
to quality and timeliness on over 95% of 
occasions, thus meeting the performance 
requirements in Budget Paper no.3.

Feedback showed that 93% of responses 
from the 16 major agencies rated AGR 
services as ‘good’ to ‘very good’, meeting the 
Budget Paper No.3 benchmark. The four-
year comparison of agency feedback shows a 
noticeable improvement since 2008–09, with 
2011–12 being just below 2010–11.

Figure 3 – Appeals & Grievance Review – performance feedback.
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A comparison of feedback from agencies over the last four years (averaged for the output and adjusted for scale 
differences) shows a steady improvement in the feedback on a scale of 0-4 (where 4 represents very good service) over 
that period.

Performance against the other three key 
deliverables in Budget Paper No. 3 was as 
follows:

Key Deliverables 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 Target

Grievance reviews finalised in 
three months

NA*

(average 
3.2 months)

81%

(average 
2.7 months)

76%

(average 
2.3 months)

83%

(average 
1.8 months)

90%

(average 
<2 months)

Promotion appeals finalised in 
six weeks

NA

(average 
6.6 weeks)

NA

(average 
5.2 weeks)

NA

(average 
5.0 weeks) 

50%

(average 
5.8 weeks)

90%

(average 
<6 weeks)

Disciplinary/inability appeals 
finalised in six months

NA NA 100% 100% 90%

*NA: data not available
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Time taken to finalise grievance reviews 
has dropped steadily over the past four 
years and improved again in 2011–12, 
although the percentage finalised within three 
months remained below the target of 90%. 
Promotion appeals increased from 56 in 
2010–11 to 156 in 2011–12, including several 
complex appeals each involving a number 
of employees. This resulted in the average 

Figure 4 – Agency Feedback On OCPE Performance 2011–12 (16 major agencies)
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finalisation time increasing. All disciplinary and 
inability appeals were again completed within 
the target period.

The table below summarises agency feedback 
on OCPE services in 2011–12. The three 
colours in the line graph represent the three 
different output areas with the specific service 
areas in each output shown on the horizontal 
axis.



2323

Performance Reporting

Output 1 – Employee Relations
Estimated cost of service: $3.24 million 

Actual cost of service: $3.38 million 
Staffing: 16.7

Overview 
The Employee Relations division is primarily 
responsible for developing and managing 
employment policies and ensuring NTPS 
employees have appropriate remuneration 
and employment conditions. It also helps 
ensure merit, equity, fairness and all legislative 
requirements are observed in managing 
NTPS staff, provides strategic public and 
private sector industrial relations advice, and 
administers the Long Service Leave Act (NT) 
and Public Holidays Act (NT).

Specific responsibilities include:

•	 strategic public sector and private sector 
industrial relations policy development and 
management

•	 strategic public sector human resource 
management policy development

•	 NTPS employment framework

•	 industrial relations and employee relations 
advice

•	 executive contract of employment 
arrangements

•	 negotiating new enterprise agreements 
covering NTPS employees and police

•	 job evaluation policy and training

•	 NTG input to International Labour 
Organisation (ILO) matters

•	 representing the NTG on national industrial 
relations committees and providing advice 
about industrial relations legislative 
developments

•	 workforce statistics and analysis

•	 central management of and policy 
development for NTPS redeployment and 
redundancy 

•	 secretariat services to the Prison Officers’ 
Arbitral Tribunal and the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal, and administration of the Police 
Administration Act (Part III) 

•	 labour inspectorate in relation to the Long 
Service Leave Act (NT) and Public Holidays 
Act (NT).
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Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act amendments 
Following a review of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act (the 
Act), the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Amendment Bill which was 
passed in August 2011 sittings took effect on  
1 January 2012.

During that process, the Employee Relations 
division:

•	 supported the minister and the Bill through 
its parliamentary passage

•	 revised the subordinate legislation to 
support and implement the Bill

•	 developed and delivered a comprehensive 
communication campaign to stakeholders 
to ensure successful implementation

•	 developed and delivered training for senior 
agency leaders and for human resource 
practitioners

•	 conducted a review of the Commissioner’s 
delegations to ensure chief executive 
officers had the appropriate level of power 
to perform their functions efficiently and 
effectively.

Key features of the changes to the Act 
included:

•	 incorporation of the principles of public 
administration and management, human 
resource management and conduct, which 
were formerly located in the regulations, to 
emphasise the level of performance and 
conduct expected of employees

•	 removal of prescriptive process provisions, 
resulting in more streamlined processes, 
particularly in regard to discipline and 
inability matters

•	 introduction of ‘special measures’ 
provisions designed to promote equality of 
opportunity for a group of people who are 
disadvantaged

•	 simplification of the appeals process and 
the establishment of a single NTPS Appeal 
Board 

•	 modernisation and simplification of 
language to provide greater clarity in 
interpretation and application of provisions. 

Enterprise Bargaining Agreements 
During the 2011 – 12 reporting period, 
five NTPS enterprise agreements were 
renegotiated within the NTPS Wages Policy 
2009 – 2012:

•	 Darwin Port Corporation Marine Pilots’ 
Agreement settled and approved by Fair 
Work Australia (FWA) in October 2011

•	 Nurses and Midwives’ Agreement settled 
and approved by FWA in November 2011

•	 Dental Officers’ Agreement settled and 
approved by FWA in November 2011

•	 Darwin Port Corporation (general 
employees) Agreement settled and 
approved by FWA in January 2012

•	 Prison Officers’ Agreement settled and 
approved by FWA in April 2012. 
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The NTPS Wages Policy 2009 – 2012 is an 
important component in the NTG’s ongoing 
objective of improving service delivery and 
increasing efficiency across the NTPS. 
The policy includes Police, Darwin Port 
Corporation and the Power and Water 
Corporation. The objectives of the Wages 
Policy are to:

•	 clearly define the roles and responsibilities 
of all parties in the bargaining process 

•	 define the NTG’s bargaining principles

•	 keep costs within the NTG’s parameters

•	 deliver increased efficiency, effectiveness, 
service outcomes and workplace reform 
across agencies (‘efficiency measures’) 

•	 support collective bargaining wherever 
possible.

In pursuit of these objectives, the 2011 – 12 
round of enterprise agreements delivered 
a range of efficiency measures across the 
NTPS, some of which will be implemented 
over the duration of these agreements. The 
new agreements also contain a number 
of beneficial provisions that will aid the 
recruitment and retention of employees across 
the NTPS in the coming period.

Features of the new agreements include:

•	 three-year agreements with annual salary 
increases of 3%

•	 improved parental leave entitlements and 
remote employment conditions

•	 greater flexibility to cash out recreation 
leave

•	 greater flexibility in the use of personal 
leave 

•	 the facilitation of a process for the creation 
of a new modern enterprise award during 
the life of the agreement.

Prison Officers
•	 restructured salary classifications based on 

attainment of qualifications

•	 introduction of ‘block training’

•	 more flexible recreation leave 
arrangements.

Marine Pilots
•	 new five-level classification structure and 

progression, which better reflects the 
licensing and training requirements and the 
nature of shipping in Darwin Harbour 

•	 enhanced safety, training, employee health 
and wellbeing, and rostering and fatigue 
management provisions.

Dental Officers
•	 increases in the professional development 

and retention allowances

•	 enhancements to the private practice 
allowance

•	 improved parental leave entitlements in line 
with those applying in the general NTPS.
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Nurses and Midwives
•	 increases to the post graduate allowance

•	 flexibility around overtime in remote 
communities

•	 changes to higher duties triggers

•	 access to the extended leave scheme.

Darwin Port Corporation General 
Employees
•	 classification restructure for Port Service 

Workers

•	 introduction of safety-related payments

•	 new annualised salary arrangements

•	 new senior administrative and professional 
classifications with progression based on 
performance

•	 time off in lieu of overtime provisions

•	 fatigue management provisions.

Assessment of Competitiveness 
of Northern Territory Public Sector 
Employment Arrangements 
The following initiatives, designed to ensure 
the NTPS remained a competitive employer, 
were completed and/or implemented during 
the reporting period:

•	 enterprise bargaining agreements for 
Nurses and Midwives, Dental Officers, 
Prison Officers, Fire Fighters and Darwin 
Port Corporation (general employees and 
Marine Pilots)

•	 a policy providing for transition to 
retirement for employees in the 
Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme

•	 introduction of remuneration package 
advertising to better reflect the full value of 
the employment package to prospective 
employees

•	 allowances made for discrete, hard-to-
recruit or specialised f-skill occupations and 
individuals.
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Building Human Resource/Industrial 
Relations Capacity Across the NTPS
The OCPE has undertaken several initiatives 
in recent years to strengthen the capability 
of NTPS Human Resources and Industrial 
Relations (HR/IR) professionals. To address 
the demand and to grow a highly competent 
HR/IR workforce able to deliver innovative 
and professional people services, the 
Employee Relations division commenced the 
development of an NTPS-wide HR/IR capacity 
building strategy in 2011–12. 

In March 2012 the Public Sector Development 
Board (PSDB) endorsed the outline for 
an NTPS Human Resource and Industrial 
Relations Capacity Building Strategy. 
The PSDB also endorsed OCPE to work 
collaboratively with agencies to develop a 
strategy that focuses on the following six core 
elements of capacity and development:

•	 communication

•	 collaboration

•	 workforce planning

•	 skill development

•	 recruiting talent

•	 mobility.

Planned outcomes include:

•	 develop an NTPS-wide strategy outlining 
the key commitments to recruit, develop 
and retain a professional HR/IR cadre 

•	 develop an HR/IR Capability and 
Development Framework that supports 
career pathways and developmental 
opportunities in the NTPS.

The Employee Relations division also 
developed and delivered targeted training 
to HR/IR practitioners on a range of NTPS 
employment framework topics, including:

•	 NTPS Employment Framework

- Introduction to NTPS Legislative 
Framework

- The Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act and subordinate 
legislation

- Impact of Fair Work Act on NTPS

•	 Natural Justice

•	 Inability, Unsatisfactory Performance and 
Discipline in the NTPS

•	 Enterprise Bargaining, an Overview

•	 Supporting Performance Management in 
the NTPS: Workshop the Issues

•	 Grievance Handling Mechanisms in the 
NTPS

•	 Preparing Submissions to the 
Commissioner for Public Employment

•	 Executive Contracts in the NTPS

•	 Dealing with Unfair Dismissal Claims

•	 Job Evaluation System, an overview.

The division also implemented a structured 
program involving placements of NTG 
departmental HR/IR staff in OCPE for one 
week, and for Employee Relations division 
staff to be placed in other NTG agencies.
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Fair Work Act Compliance 
In 2011–12, the Employee Relations division 
assessed and provided input to the Australian 
Government on a number of proposed 
amendments to Fair Work legislation, 
including:

•	 amendments to the unpaid parental leave 
provision under the National Employment 
Standards 

•	 Regulations to ensure that federal 
transitional instruments do not apply to 
state public sector or local government 
employees and employees who have been 
excluded from the national workplace 
relations system under s. 14 of the Fair 
Work Act 2009

•	 for the inclusion of a ‘keeping in touch’ 
provision in the National Employment 
Standards

•	 to enable an official of an industrial 
association to represent a party in a small 
claims proceeding in circumstances where 
the party is granted leave by the Federal 
and State Magistrates Court

•	 the nomination of default superannuation 
funds in modern awards and enterprise 
agreements to support the Australian 
Government’s Stronger Super and 
Securing Super reforms

•	 updating the definition of ‘maritime 
employee’.

NTPS compliance with the amendments was 
assessed and no changes were considered 
necessary.

Streamline Job Evaluation System 
Processes
The Mercer Job Evaluation System (JES) 
is the primary method for determining the 
work value of jobs across the majority 
of employment streams within the 
NTPS. These include the administrative, 
professional, technical and nursing (levels 
3 and above) streams, senior teachers, 
police, and administrative, science and 
engineering professional employees in 
the Power and Water Corporation. Those 
streams not covered by the JES have work 
values determined by competency or other 
arrangements as outlined in applicable 
enterprise agreements.

As the proprietor of the system, Mercer 
conducts an annual audit to monitor the 
ongoing integrity of the system. In its 2011–12 
audit, Mercer identified the following areas for 
attention:

•	 a higher than acceptable error rate in 
evaluations

•	 evaluator competency

•	 poor data recording and reporting

•	 poorly written Job Analysis Questionnaires 
(JAQ)

•	 JES unit operations.
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In the course of negotiations for the NTPS 
2010–2013 Enterprise Agreement, the OCPE 
and union parties agreed to conduct a joint 
review of the administration of JES in the 
NTPS. The findings and recommendations of 
that review can be broadly grouped into the 
following themes:

•	 streamlining processes, including the JAQ

•	 employee communication and education

•	 evaluator competency

•	 transparent processes

•	 peer review of evaluations.

Some stakeholders also expressed the view 
that the JES process was overly bureaucratic 
and time consuming.

In response, the Employee Relations 
division, in collaboration with key agencies, 
commenced a project with a focus on three 
key action areas.

Process

•	 Increasing the use of benchmarked JAQs 
and standardised evaluations that can have 
broad application across the NTPS.

•	 Maximising service responsiveness, 
innovation and efficiency in the 
administration of the system by the 
Department of Business and Employment 
(DBE) and agencies.

•	 Simplifying processes and documentation 
where possible.

Quality

•	 Increasing evaluator competence through 
improved training and support by agencies.

•	 Strengthening DBE and agency resourcing 
and commitment to the system.

•	 Implementing a peer review and feedback 
system for evaluations.

•	 Strengthening data recording and reporting 
systems in DBE and agencies.

Employee Communication and Education

•	 Improving and promoting information 
resources for employees.

The project will continue into the 2012–13 
reporting period and is expected to deliver the 
following benefits:

•	 streamlined job design and evaluation 
processes

•	 improved DBE service delivery

•	 improved accuracy in evaluation outcomes; 
minimising incorrect classification 
outcomes

•	 reduced costs attributable to over-
classification of jobs1

•	 increased stakeholder confidence in the 
system.

1 Of the incorrectly classified jobs reviewed in the Mercer audit, 
approximately half were over-classified. Although difficult to 
accurately quantify, this result extrapolated across the sector 
would equate to approximately 800 jobs. 
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Improved Management of Short 
Term Employment Contracts 
Responding to a slight but steady rise in the 
use of fixed period (temporary) employment 
in the NTPS (5.7% from 2004 to 2011; refer 
OCPE State of the Service Report Figure 38, 
page 74) and concerns raised by NTPS unions, 
agency HR Directors were tasked with:

•	 identifying cases of inappropriate use of 
short-term contracts and working with 
relevant managers to rectify prior to the 
next contract renewal

•	 implementing a simple database to 
ensure they could monitor renewals and 
provide pro-active advice to managers on 
appropriate solutions to filling vacancies.

In addition, NTPS unions have been invited to 
raise any specific cases of inappropriate use 
with the Commissioner for investigation and 
resolution.

Pay Equity Audit 
A gender pay equity audit was conducted in 
2011–12 using Personnel Information and 
Payroll System (PIPS) data that provides 
information by classification and agency 
about the differences between the earnings 
of male and female employees. The details 
are reported in the OCPE State of the Service 
Report 2011–12. The findings complement 
other State of the Service data relating to 
female earnings.

In conjunction with agencies, the Employee 
Relations division will undertake a closer 
examination of the data to identify any 
structural or other factors that have impacted 
on any gaps, and develop strategies to 
address these where necessary.

Administration of Private Sector 
Employment Legislation 
The Employee Relations division undertakes 
a Labour Inspectorate role administering 
the Long Service Leave Act (NT) and Public 
Holidays Act (NT), which apply to Northern 
Territory employers and employees in the 
private sector.

In 2011–12, the division provided advice on a 
range of matters, including eligibility for pro-
rata long service leave before completion of 
10 years’ continuous service and application 
of the Long Service Leave Act to employees 
located in the Northern Territory who work for 
interstate companies. In relation to the Public 
Holidays Act, most enquiries related to the 
regional show day public holidays.

During the reporting period, three potential 
breaches of the Long Service Leave Act were 
investigated; two were finalised and one 
remains ongoing.

Northern Territory Government Input 
to International Labour Organisation 
Matters
The NTG is required to report annually 
on Ratified and Unratified Conventions 
as specified by the International 
Labour Organisation (ILO), through the 
Commonwealth Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations 
(DEEWR), which administers all ILO matters 
nationally. The Employee Relations division 
undertakes this reporting responsibility on 
behalf of the NTG.
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During 2011–12, in collaboration with relevant 
agencies, the division reported on the:

•	 measures the NT has taken to give effect to 
the following Ratified Conventions under 
Article 22 of the ILO Constitution (Article 22 
report for 2011):

o C010 Minimum Age (Agriculture) 
Convention, 1921 (No. 10)

o C100 Equal Remuneration Convention, 
1951 (No.100)

o C111 Discrimination (Employment and 
Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No.111)

o C112 Minimum Age (Fishermen) 
Convention, 1959 (No.112)

o C123 Minimum Age (Underground 
Work) Convention, 1965 (No.123)

o C156 Workers with Family 
Responsibilities Convention, 1981 
(No.156) 

o C158 Termination of Employment 
Convention, 1982 (No.158).

The division also responded to specific 
requests and observations made by the 
Committee of Experts on the Application 
of Conventions and Recommendations 
(CEACR) based on the first six of the seven 
conventions.

•	 Measures the NT has taken to give effect 
to the following Unratified Conventions 
under Article 19 of the ILO Constitution 
(Article 19 report for 2012) being:

o Labour Relations (Public Service) 
Convention, 1978 (No. 151)

o Labour Relations (Public Service) 
Recommendation, 1978 (No. 159)

o Collective Bargaining Convention, 1981 
(No. 154)2 

o Collective Bargaining Recommendation, 
1981 (No. 163)2.

•	 Full law and practice report for the 
Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No.138) 
and obtaining NTG support for the 
Commonwealth seeking ratification of 
C138.

•	 Full law and practice report for the Labour 
Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 
(No.129) and commencement of cabinet 
submission processes to obtain NTG 
formal support for the Commonwealth 
seeking ratification of C129.

The Employee Relations division completed 
the approval process for the NTG, giving 
formal full support for the ratification of the 
Maritime Labour Convention, 2006.  

The NT ILO Technical Officer is based in the 
Employee Relations division and is part of the 
ILO Technical Officers Forum comprising ILO 
Technical Officers of the states and territories 
as well as representatives of DEEWR.

2 As requested by the ILO, the report on Convention 154 and 
Recommendation 163 was limited to collective bargaining in the 
NT Public Sector.
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Other Key Areas of 
Responsibility
Industrial Representation and 
Dispute Resolution 
During the 2011–12 reporting period, the 
Employee Relations division assisted 
agencies in the resolution of a number of 
industrial matters, including:

•	 development of progression criteria for 
teachers and the introduction of a flexible 
school year at Gunbalanya

•	 fire fighters’ overtime

•	 payment for Channel Island power station 
operators

•	 changes to the prisons’ Integrated Offender 
Management System and Classification 
Sentence Management Manual.

Examples of disputes in which the Employee 
Relations division was required to appear 
before an industrial tribunal include:

•	 eight unfair dismissal matters, two of which 
are ongoing

•	 two general workplace protections 
applications, both of which were finalised 
without proceeding to the Federal 
Magistrates Court

•	 conciliation in relation to the Prison Officers’ 
enterprise agreement.

In addition to disputes, representatives of 
the Employee Relations division appeared 
before tribunals for the approval of enterprise 
agreements. The division provided general 
industrial relations advice to agencies 
about transfer of business matters and the 
avoidance of industrial disputes.

During the reporting period there were also 
discussions with NTPS-affiliated unions about 
the implementation of the Work Health and 
Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act and 
preparations for development of a modern 
enterprise award for the NTPS. Both of these 
matters will be ongoing in the next reporting 
period.
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Advisory Services 
The Employee Relations division provided 
formal advice to government on a diverse 
range of employment related matters, 
including:

•	 award modernisation under the Fair Work 
Act (Cth)

•	 the Workplace Relations Ministers’ Council 
and the Selection Council on Workplace 
Relations

•	 various changes to the Fair Work Act (Cth)

•	 the national pay equity test case

•	 the NTPS staffing cap and quarterly staffing 
levels.

The division also provided specialist human 
resources and industrial relations consultancy 
services to agencies, NTPS employees and 
members of the public.  

Secretariat Services to the Police 
Arbitral Tribunal and the Prison 
Officers’ Arbitral Tribunal 
The Employee Relations division provides 
secretariat services to the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal and Prison Officers’ Arbitral Tribunal, 
established under NT Legislation. The 
tribunals carry out functions similar to Fair 
Work Australia.

Workforce Statistics and Analysis
The Employee Relations division provides 
workforce statistics and analysis based on 
NTPS-wide personnel and pay information 
from a consolidated database system (PIPS), 
including:

•	 reports to government on NTPS staffing 
levels, including overall and in agencies

•	 reports to government and agencies on the 
staff cap

•	 provision of ongoing staffing and salary 
data to Treasury, which assists in the 
formulation and monitoring of Budget 
staffing targets

•	 provision of HR analyses to Strategic 
Workforce Planning and Development as 
required to support and monitor a variety of 
that division’s strategic initiatives

•	 a range of workforce data analyses and 
statistical advices both in-house and to 
agencies to inform policy development and 
to assist in the monitoring of staffing profiles.

The Employee Relations division also 
processed additional requests for data from 
interstate jurisdictions and the Australian 
Government, and prepared data and provided 
options for the annual State of the Service 
report.
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Central Management and Policy 
Development for Public Sector 
Redeployment and Redundancy 
The Employee Relations division manages 
redeployment and redundancy matters. 
Agencies are required to comply with 
the provisions of the redundancy and 
redeployment procedures under the relevant 
enterprise agreements.

In the 2011–12 reporting period, one 
employee elected for voluntary retrenchment. 
There were no involuntary retrenchments.

Public Sector Consultative Council 
The Public Sector Consultative Council 
(the council) is an important joint union 
and management body established under 
legislation. The council met twice during the 
2011–12 reporting period. Matters considered 
included:

•	 NTPS values

•	 NTPS Employee Survey

•	 review of the Act

•	 JES review

•	 pay equity audit

•	 temporary (fixed period) employment 
statistics

•	 occupational health and safety

•	 Modern Enterprise Awards

•	 State of the Service Report

•	 establishment and role of the Public Sector 
Development Board

•	 Indigenous employment

•	 delegates’ rights

•	 payroll

•	 implementation of pay progression for 
Senior Administration and Professional staff

•	 flex time

•	 release of employees for higher duties or 
other career opportunities

•	 extended and purchased leave schemes, 
access to other entitlements.

Priorities for 2012–13 
•	 Develop a new NTPS wages policy.

•	 Negotiations for five enterprise 
agreements:
- general NTPS employees
- teachers and educators
- Power and Water
- fire fighters
- medical officers.

•	 Negotiations to modernise the NTPS 
awards.

•	 Implement the JES streamlining and 
administrative changes.

•	 Monitor the implementation of individual 
performance management in agencies.

•	 Develop and implement an NTPS HR/IR 
Capacity Building Strategy.

•	 Review the use of short term employment 
contracts.
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Output 2 – Workforce Planning and 
Development

Estimated cost of service: $3.79 million 
Actual cost of service: $3.92 million 

Staffing: 10.8

Overview
The Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development division is responsible for  
sector-wide strategic workforce initiatives, 
including workforce planning and 
development, executive and leadership 
development programs, policy and advice, to 
meet the needs of NTPS agencies. This output 
also promotes equity and diversity in the 
NTPS, with a focus on increasing employment 
and career development opportunities for 
Indigenous people and people from under-
represented groups.

Workforce Planning
NTPS Workforce Planning 
Framework 
The ‘Making Workforce Planning Work in 
the NT Public Sector’ framework supports 
agencies in their workforce planning efforts, 
and the methodology is available on the 
OCPE website for all agencies to use. The 
OCPE monitors and advises agencies on their 
workforce plans as required and these are 
reported on annually via the State of Service 
Report.

With major resources projects proceeding 
in the Territory over the next 10 years, along 
with major projects in Western Australia and 
Queensland, there is likely to be a significant 
impact on the NT labour market, which may 
include the capacity of the NTPS to recruit and 
retain staff. 

Strategic Workforce Development and 
Planning has been working closely with 
the DoB, the Power and Water Corporation 
and the Department of Construction and 
Infrastructure on the impact of these major 
projects on the Northern Territory, and 
specifically, to monitor occupation groups that 
may be impacted.

The ageing workforce is also an emerging 
issue in our sector. To help encourage mature-
age workers to remain in the NTPS, the 
OCPE has developed a draft Late Careers 
Framework. A range of NTPS initiatives are 
promoted in the framework that will enable 
people to stay at work longer, but with a 
balance between work and home life. It also 
provides for employees who may consider 
changing to a role with less responsibility or 
less hours before retirement.  

In 2011–12, the Strategic Workforce 
Development and Planning division also 
commenced development of a sector-wide 
approach to early careers to enhance efforts 
to ‘grow our own’. This involves reviewing 
the sector-wide guidelines for entry-level 
programs such as the NTPS Graduate Policy 
and Vacation Employment. In collaboration 
with the Department of Education and 
Training, the division will also develop a 
strategic approach for NTPS scholarships.
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In recognition of the growing importance of 
strong, robust data for workforce planning, 
the OCPE is in the process of developing HR 
indicators in conjunction with the DBE which 
will facilitate consistent reporting across the 
sector.  

Monitoring the Health and 
Performance of the NTPS – 2011 
Employee Survey 
In 2009, OCPE ran the first census-based 
NTPS Employee Survey, with a second 
survey conducted from August to September 
2011. Survey results are used by OCPE and 
individual agencies to inform the development 
of policies and programs to promote the NTPS 
as an employer of choice.

Whole-of-sector results are posted on the 
OCPE website, and agencies communicate 
their own results internally. A total of 5817 
employees responded to the 2011 survey 
– an overall response rate of 31% - and an 
improvement of 6% from 2009. 

A number of other Australian jurisdictions 
run similar surveys and common benchmark 
questions reveal that the NTPS results are 
similar to national trends.

The key positive findings for the 2011 survey 
included a high level of agreement by 
employees that:

•	 there is a strong commitment to customer 
service

•	 there is fairness and equity in employment

•	 confidentiality of information is taken very 
seriously

•	 agency staff make a strong contribution 
towards achieving workplace and agency 
outcomes

•	 the quality of working relationships and 
mutual respect between colleagues is high

•	 employees understand the Code of 
Conduct and behave ethically, fairly and 
professionally

•	 workplaces are committed to safety and 
encourage the reporting of workplace 
health and safety risks.

Compared with the 2009 survey there was 
clear improvement in the areas of:

•	 increased flexible employment 
opportunities

•	 increased satisfaction with performance 
feedback and confidence in manager’s 
and supervisor’s ability to deal with poor 
performance and resolve grievances

•	 quality leadership

•	 fewer reports of bullying and harassment

•	 change management.

Sector-wide responses included:

•	 agreement by agencies to improve 
performance management processes

•	 development of an online sector-wide guide 
to performance management, accessible to 
all

•	 the delivery of three ‘Leadership for 
Change Agents’ workshops for 90 
executive staff across the sector

•	 enhancing and promoting training in merit 
selection across the sector.
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Organisational Self Diagnostic 
In 2010–11, OCPE developed a capability 
review model based on the New Zealand 
State Service Commissions Performance 
Improvement Framework. The Organisational 
Self-Diagnostic tool was trialled in one 
department with a view to considering  
its introduction across the sector. Continuation 
of the trial has been put on hold until 2012–13.  

Willing and Able Strategy - a 
strategy for the employment of 
people with disability in the NTPS 
The Willing and Able Strategy 2009–2012, 
a strategy for the employment of people 
with disability in the NTPS, was approved 
by Cabinet and subsequently released in 
October 2010. The purpose of the strategy 
is to increase attraction and retention of, and 
improve career enhancement opportunities 
for, people with disability in the NTPS. It 
also aims to enable the workforce to reflect 
the diversity of the community it serves. 
The strategy also commits to action through 
a cross-agency implementation plan. 
Progress against the key actions under the 
implementation plan is reported in the annual 
State of the Service Report. 

A major component of the strategy is 
administering the Project Employment 
Scheme. Since the implementation of this 
scheme in the mid-nineties, more than 55 
participants have been offered employment 
opportunities, of which 35 continue to work 
in the NTPS. At 30 June there were 16 
participants employed across five agencies.

During 2011–12, a number of actions and 
initiatives have been accomplished:

•	 A list of resources was developed as 
a guide for managers and employees 
on specialised employment services 
to address workplace modification or 
adjustment matters.

•	 The OCPE website was redeveloped with 
information about equity and diversity, and 
employment of people with a disability, 
improved.

•	 An accessibility guide for the main training 
venues and conference facilities in Darwin 
was compiled and made available to 
agencies.

Other activities that supported and enhanced 
the Willing and Able Strategy in 2011–12 
included:

•	 Amendments to the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 
(PSEMA) to allow an agency chief 
executive to implement special measures 
with the approval of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment provided they comply 
with the Anti-Discrimination Act. Special 
measures include programs, plans or 
arrangements that support government 
strategies to employ people with 
disabilities.  

•	 A guide on flexible work practices was 
developed and posted on the OCPE 
website. This guide can be used to 
consider better ways to support the needs 
of people with disability. 

The Willing and Able Strategy is scheduled 
for review in 2012, with a new approach 
anticipated for release in early 2013.
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Northern Territory Public Sector 
Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development 
The principal aim of the 2010–2012 
Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy (IECDS) is to increase 
Indigenous public sector employment, improve 
Indigenous economic participation and work 
towards a workforce profile that reflects the 
Indigenous working population in the Territory.

The strategy has four key focus areas:

1. workplace environment

2. attraction

3. retention 

4. communication.

Highlights and Achievements:  
Work Environment
•	 A whole-of-sector panel contract was 

established for the provision of cross-
cultural training for all NTPS employees 
in major centres of the Northern Territory. 
More than 67 courses were conducted in 
2011–12, and several agencies also hosted 
internal cross-cultural programs.

•	 In 2011, the OCPE launched the Lookrukin 
and Kigaruk Alumni for more than 60 
graduates of these programs. It also hosted 
an Indigenous mentoring program in 
Darwin and Alice Springs.

•	 Indigenous employment outcomes were 
incorporated into Executive Level staff 
performance reviews.

Highlights and Achievements: 
Attraction
•	 Apprenticeship programs have been a 

very successful avenue for attracting 
Indigenous employees, with 17 apprentices 
commencing with the NTPS in 2011 and a 
further 24 in 2012. The cadetship support 
program had 28 commencements in  
2011–12.

•	 The ‘Job Guarantee’ program guarantees 
a supported pathway into NTPS jobs for 
Indigenous students residing in Territory 
Growth Towns, who graduate from year 12. 

•	 The Indigenous Employment Program had 
11 course intakes in 2011–12, with more 
than 100 participants. Four of the course 
intakes were for specific purposes. These 
included Pre-Prison Officer in Training, 
Customer Contact, Business, Community 
Services and one intake was for regional 
areas.

Highlights and Achievements: 
Retention
•	 Indigenous leadership programs, Lookrukin 

and Kigaruk, were revamped in 2011–12. 
Lookrukin had two courses completed with 
a total of 46 graduates, and Kigaruk had 
three completed courses with a total of 45 
graduates.
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Highlights and Achievements: 
Communication
•	 An Indigenous e-network was established 

using SharePoint in 2011–12. The network 
is used to share employment and career 
information and at 30 June had 73 
members.  

The current strategy is due to expire in 
December 2012. Work has commenced on 
a new Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy for 2013–2018.

NTPS Values 
In 2011, a proposed set of common public 
sector values were considered for introduction 
throughout the NTPS in 2012. 

Following a reprioritisation of activities in 
late 2011, it was decided the introduction of 
common NTPS values would be deferred, with 
implementation to be re-considered in 2013. 

Supporting a Culture of Innovation 
A key target is to develop a focus on research 
and innovation.  As we work to shape an 
increasingly innovation-driven economy, 
success will be dependent on the capacity 
of agencies and the private sector to jointly 
lift innovation and capability in Territory 
workplaces. The Public Sector Development 
Board has endorsed work by OCPE and the 
Department of the Chief Minister to develop 
and pilot initiatives that support innovation 
at both an agency and whole-of-government 
level. This work is planned for 2012–13.

Reward and Recognition in the NTPS 
Reward and Recognition

A web-based reward and recognition 
framework was developed in 2011–12 to 
provide agencies with flexible tools and 
reference materials for agencies to use in 
rewarding and recognising employees. 

A length of service recognition guideline was 
also developed to recognise long and valued 
service. The guideline ensures sector-wide 
consistency when recognising employees 
who have reached significant length of service 
milestones in the NTPS.
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2011 Chief Minister’s Public Sector 
Medals 
As part of the NTG’s commitment to rewarding 
excellence in the NTPS, the annual Chief 
Minister’s Public Sector Medals were held 
as part of the 2011 Chief Minister’s Awards 
for Excellence in the Public Sector. Ten 
employees received the prestigious medal 
for their outstanding and meritorious public 
service.  

Winners:

	Lyn Bond, Department of the Chief Minister

	Julie Brimson, Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Regional Services

	David Jeffery, Department of Lands and 
Housing

	Robert Jobson, Department of Justice

	Vicki Krause, Department of Health

	Dennis Powley, Department of Construction 
and Infrastructure

	Aurora Quinn, Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Regional Services

	Brian Radunz, Department of Resources

	Meg Simmons, Department of Health

	Raymond Tandy, Northern Territory Fire 
and Rescue Service.

2011 Chief Minister’s Awards for 
Excellence in the Public Sector
These awards formally recognise and reward 
teams that demonstrate excellence in the 
NTPS and make a positive difference to the 
public sector and Territory communities. There 
are six categories. 

A total of 29 submissions were received 
across the six categories in 2011.

Category 1: Delivering Quality Education and 
Training

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
support high-quality learning and improve 
the quality of education and training in the 
Territory.

Winner

Agency: Department of Education and 
Training

Team: Early Childhood Policy and 
Regulations Division

Initiative: Families as First Teachers – 
Indigenous Parenting Support 
Program
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Category 2: Growing Prosperity

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
maximise opportunities for economic growth in 
the Territory.

Winner

Agency: Department of Resources
Team: Northern Territory Geological 

Survey
 Minerals and Energy Division
Initiative: Bringing Forward Discovery 

Initiative

Category 3: Improving Health and Wellbeing

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
promote, protect and improve the health and 
wellbeing of Territorians.

Winner

Agency: Department of Health
Team: NT Program of Experience 

in the Palliative Approach 
Program, Health Reform, 
Hospital Policy and Service 
Department

Initiative: Program of Experience in the 
Palliative Approach – Northern 
Territory Community Outreach 
Program

Category 4: Enriching our Society and 
Lifestyle

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
ensure the highest possible standards of 
living for all Territorians, and a society that 
embraces equity, diversity and culture.

Winner

Agency: Department of the Chief 
Minister

Team: Darwin Waterfront Corporation
Initiative: The Darwin Waterfront Project

Category 5: Preserving our Environment and 
Natural Resources

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
protect and enhance the Territory’s unique 
environment and the sustainable use and 
conservation of its resources.

Winner

Agency: Department of Natural 
Resources, Environment, the 
Arts and Sport

Team: Territory Eco-link Project, 
Parks and Wildlife

Initiative: Territory Eco-link
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Category 6: Strengthening Government and 
Public Administration

Recognises outstanding achievements that 
enhance efficiency, accountability, accessibility 
and community confidence in government and 
the public sector.

Winner

Agency: Department of the Chief 
Minister

Team: Territory 2030 Implementation 
Unit and Strategic 
Communications 

Initiative: Talking Territory 2030 Online 
Forum

Public Service Medal (Australia Day 
Honours)

The Public Service Medal is part of the official 
Australian system of honours and awards and 
recognises employees of Australian, state, 
territory and local governments who have 
displayed outstanding service. A maximum 
of 100 medals can be awarded in Australia in 
any year, and two of these are allocated to the 
Northern Territory.

In 2011 the recipient was Mr Brendan 
Lawson, for exceptional leadership, technical 
and negotiation skills while working on 
the Australasia Railway and Waterfront 
redevelopment projects.

Since 1990, 16 Public Service Medals have 
been awarded to NTPS employees.

Building Human Resource and 
Industrial Relations Capacity in the 
NTPS  
In conjunction with Employee Relations, 
the Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development division commenced the 
development of a sector-wide HR/IR capacity 
building strategy.

Ongoing professional development of 
HR practitioners is provided through the 
maintenance of a SharePoint site for the 
HR community, quarterly HR forums and 
quarterly meetings of HR directors across the 
sector to discuss strategic issues and policy 
development.

Timor-Leste Internship Scheme 
In December 2011 a Memorandum of 
Cooperation to enable 10 Timor-Leste civil 
servants to spend six weeks in the NTPS 
was concluded with the final three interns 
successfully completing their placements. 
Feedback received from the interns, the 
President of the Civil Service Commission 
of Timor-Leste and the AusAID Adviser was 
positive.

To continue the special relationship the 
NTPS shares with Timor-Leste, funding has 
been sought from AusAID to run a series of 
workshops in Dili over the next two years 
aimed at building management and leadership 
capability within the Timor-Leste Civil Service. 
These workshops will largely mirror the 
leadership and governance training currently 
provided by OCPE to senior staff within the 
NTPS.
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Workforce Development
Northern Territory Government 
and Charles Darwin University 
Partnership Agreement 
The OCPE continues to sponsor the Chair of 
Governance through the NTG and Charles 
Darwin University (CDU) Partnership 
Agreement. The position provides leadership 
in research and consultancy and, in 
partnership with the NTPS, guides the further 
development of programs in governance and 
public sector management to meet emerging 
workforce needs. Through this arrangement 
CDU delivered a writing and referencing 
workshop for participants on the Public 
Sector Management Program. Articulation 
arrangements are also in place for graduates 
of this program to be offered 40 credit points 
towards a Master of Business Administration 
through the university. The Chair was also a 
member of the judging panel for this year’s 
Chief Minister’s Awards for Excellence in the 
Public Sector.  

Mobility 
Job mobility as a means of achieving 
individual and organisational development 
is a key component of building workforce 
capability. This is especially so in driving 
leadership development, reducing ‘silo 
thinking’ and boosting cross-program problem 
solving ability.

While the NTPS has had a long-standing 
policy supporting workforce mobility, a more 
targeted approach to encourage executive 
mobility was endorsed during 2011–12, with 
the first placements planned for the latter 
half of 2012. Based on case studies from 

ad hoc mobility placements within the NTPS, 
and on a review of the experience of other 
jurisdictions, it is anticipated that a more 
structured approach to executive mobility will: 

•	 build the skills, knowledge and experience 
of the executive talent pool

•	 improve communication and alignment 
across organisational boundaries

•	 make a significant contribution towards 
‘growing our own’ executive service.

Individual Performance Management 
To complement the face-to-face training 
available through OCPE Training and 
Development, OCPE has developed an 
online e-learning package on performance 
management, titled ‘Performance 
Management: a good practice guide for 
managers.’

The e-learning package has four modules:

•	 what is performance management?

•	 preparing a performance plan

•	 giving and receiving feedback

•	 responsibilities.

The target audience for this package is 
anyone with responsibility for staff, such as 
supervisors, team leaders, managers and 
directors.

The information in the e-learning package 
has been designed as a generic resource to 
guide performance management in the NTPS 
and enhance information that already exists in 
agencies.
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Training and Development 

Short courses/collaborative training 
framework
The Department of Business and 
Employment’s Short Course function 
integrated into OCPE’s Strategic Workforce 
Planning and Development Unit in May 2012. 
The merger into OCPE will enable a more 
integrated, consistent approach to across-
government capability development that will 
assist in attracting and retaining a skilled 
workforce to effectively deliver on current and 
future NTPS requirements. 

A range of training courses have been 
developed, particularly focusing on capability 
development requirements identified through 
the NTPS staff survey.

The integration of the short course unit 
presented an excellent opportunity to explore 
a new collaborative approach to across-
government training and development, 
including e-learning. The Coordination 
Committee was presented with a detailed 
paper providing options for a new training 
model and a range of recommendations were 
endorsed.

The new collaborative training model will  
assist with reducing duplication in the delivery 
of a common core suite of NTPS capabilities, 
maximise the training dollar, and provide a 
consistent coordination point for  
sector-wide capability development,  
including e-learning. The model will also 
contribute to networking, sharing of  
expertise and assist with engagement  
across the sector.

Change Management 
The NTPS Employee Survey results 
from 2009 and 2011 reflected that most 
respondents did not agree with the statement 
‘Change is managed well in my workplace’. 
Thirteen agencies scored 50% agreement 
and under; the lowest score being 33% in 
agreement.

It was therefore considered timely for senior 
executives to take a fresh approach to looking 
beyond conventional ideas of leadership and 
management to understand the underlying 
dynamics of change, to analyse complex 
issues and creatively intervene to influence 
outcomes and make an impact.

Three one-day workshops were developed 
in which executives were encouraged to 
analyse how major changes require leaders 
to ‘adapt’ in an evolutionary sense to new 
situations and environments. The workshops 
were facilitated by Paul Porteous, Director 
Leadership Development at the Australia and 
New Zealand School of Government’s Institute 
of Government. 

Mr Porteous offered valuable insights from 
his work globally in developing nations and 
across sectors in urban and remote settings, 
and follow-up practical sessions are planned 
for 2012–13.

Remote Workforce Development 
The Remote Workforce Development Strategy 
supports the professional development of 
remote employees with approximately  
$1.03 million in grants funding every year.

The whole-of-government strategy helps 
improve links between agencies, improve 
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NTPS service delivery and address the 
challenges of distance, isolation and cost 
in providing support and development 
opportunities to staff in remote locations. 

Some 700 remote employees across the 
Northern Territory received Remote Workforce 
Development funding to attend professional 
development activities during 2011–12.  

Examples of supported activities include:

•	 67 remote employees from the Department 
of Children and Families attended the 
‘Appropriate Behaviours in the Workplace’ 
workshop at five locations across the 
Territory

•	 44 remote employees from the Department 
of Education and Training attended a two-
day National Remote Teacher Leaders 
Conference in Alice Springs

•	 One remote NTPS staff member attended 
the five-day Future Leaders program in 
Darwin.

Leadership Development

Future and Executive Leadership 
Programs
Two new programs were introduced in 2011 
to supplement the existing leadership suite 
of programs: A Future Leaders program and 
an Executive Leadership program. The new 
programs aim to address leadership capability 
in the NTPS and enable adequate leadership 
bench strength to fill future gaps. 

The Future Leaders program targets 
employees at the AO7 to SAO2 level or 
equivalent, and the Executive Leaders 
program targets employees at the SAO2 level 

and above or equivalent. A total of  
33 participants attended both programs in  
2011–12. 

360-Degree Feedback Program
A 360-Degree Feedback assessment tool 
designed to help staff understand their 
personal and professional development 
needs was conducted across the sector in 
March 2012. A total of 20 senior managers 
from NTPS agencies participated in this 
360-Degree Feedback program in 2011–12, 
building on the 100 participants that undertook 
the program in 2009 and 2010. 

A key outcome of the 360-Degree Feedback 
process is the identification of skill gap 
areas that then enable targeted training 
needs for the NTPS. In collaboration with 
NTPS agencies, this process supported the 
development of options to address leadership 
capability gaps throughout the sector. 

Development Programs 

Australia and New Zealand School of 
Government
The NTG is a financial member of the 
Australia and New Zealand School of 
Government (ANZSOG), which means it 
can access a range of training offered by the 
school. ANZSOG is regarded as the pre-
eminent provider of public sector leadership 
development activities throughout Australia. 

The ANZSOG programs and activities are 
highly specialised to meet the needs of middle 
to senior public sector managers across a 
range of contemporary topics. As part of the 
ANZSOG membership, the NTPS nominates 
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executives into the Executive Master of Public 
Administration, and the Executive Fellows 
Program each year. Eighteen  
highly-regarded NTPS employees have  
been accepted into these two prestigious 
ANZSOG programs since 2004.

In September 2011, OCPE, in partnership 
with the Department of Chief Minister, the 
Department of Business and Employment 
and Northern Territory Treasury, hosted 
an ANZSOG workshop “Strategy for 
Organisational Transitions”. This two-day 
workshop was presented by Professor 
Michael Barzelay and was attended by 31 
NTPS senior leaders. 

A second program was hosted by the same 
agencies in April 2012 on ’Leadership for 
Change’, which was presented in three one-
day workshops and attended by 88 NTPS 
senior leaders. 

Public Sector Management Program
The OCPE continues to host the national 
Public Sector Management Program 
(PSMP), which targets emerging leaders 
at the levels AO6 to SAO1 in all the three 
tiers of government. The PSMP aims to 
deliver practical management education and 
development, and has done so throughout 
Australia for 20 years. 

As a nationally accredited program, 
completion of the PSMP results in a Graduate 
Certificate level qualification. In February 
2012, 19 graduates received a Graduate 
Certificate of Public Sector Management from 
Flinders University. Of those graduates, 63% 
were women. The NTPS has delivered the 

PSMP since 1993 and, since then, there have 
been 657 graduates. 

During 2011–12, the PSMP was offered in 
Darwin and attracted a total of 34 participants. 

Indigenous Leadership Programs
A key action under the Indigenous 
Employment and Career Development 
Strategy 2010–2012 is to reinvigorate the 
NTPS Indigenous leadership programs, 
Lookrukin and Kigaruk. These programs 
were specifically designed to offer Indigenous 
employees in the NTPS an opportunity 
to gain the knowledge and skills to build 
capacity in their position and to develop their 
potential and career progression. Participants 
undertake a Diploma of Management at 
Charles Darwin University.

Ten participants of the 2011 Kigaruk 
Indigenous Men’s Leadership Development 
program graduated in May 2012. Twenty-six 
women commenced the 2012 Indigenous 
Women’s Leadership Development Program 
in March 2012 and are due to graduate in 
May 2013. This will bring the total number 
of Indigenous men and women who have 
completed the Kigaruk and Lookrukin programs 
since it commenced in 2003–04 to 91.

In July 2011, the Kigaruk and Lookrukin 
Indigenous Leadership Development 
Program Alumni was launched at Parliament 
House. The NTPS now has more than 60 
Kigaruk and Lookrukin Alumni. Being an 
Alumni gives graduates recognition for 
completing the program and gaining a 
Diploma qualification, the opportunity to 
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receive ongoing support and guidance from 
their fellow Alumni members, the ability to 
pursue career development opportunities via 
networking and serves as an incentive for 
other Indigenous staff to participate in future 
programs

Discovery - Women as Leaders 
Program
The Discovery - Women as Leaders program 
is a 15 day intensive leadership program 
and a unique personal and professional 
development opportunity for women. The 
program’s aim is to increase the capability of 
women in leadership roles across the NTPS. It 
is offered twice a year to women in the public 
sector in Darwin and Alice Springs, and is well 
supported.

In 2011–12, a total of 21 women completed 
the program, bringing the total participants 
since 2001 to 243.

Priorities for 2012–13
•	 Review and implement revised strategies 

for:

o Public Sector Indigenous employment 
and career development

o Public Sector employment of persons 
with a disability

o Women in Leadership in the public 
sector

o Executive Leadership Development.

•	 Implement a Mobility program for 
executives in the NTPS as a capacity 
development strategy.

•	 Develop and implement a collaborative 
sector-wide training and development 
framework.

•	 Develop and implement a program to 
support innovation in the NTPS.

•	 Develop and implement a strategy 
to enhance NTPS human resources 
management and development capacity.

•	 Co-ordinate the annual Chief Minister’s 
Awards and Medal ceremony.  

•	 Develop HRM indicators and promote 
reporting and analysis of key data.

Employee Achievements:
•	 Shael Martin presented at the Enterprise 

Risk for Government conference in 
Sydney in May 2012 on the topic of ‘talent 
management and mitigating human capital 
risk’.

•	 Reanna Browne presented at Australian 
Human Resource Institute (AHRI) HR 
Practices Day in May 2012 on ‘driving the 
change agenda’.

•	 Reanna Browne won the prestigious AHRI 
Rising Star Award at the national award 
ceremony in 2011.

•	 Renee Long won the Institute of Public 
Administration Australia Northern Territory 
(IPAA NT) Indigenous Scholarship and 
will attend the International Congress in 
Melbourne from 18–20 September 2012.  

•	 Jenny Stephensen presented at AHRI 
HR Practices Day in October 2011 on 
‘leadership in complex times’.
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Output 3 – Promotion, Disciplinary and 
Inability Appeals & Grievance Reviews

Estimated cost of service: $0.76 million 
Actual cost of service: $0.74 million 

Staffing: 3.7

Overview
The Public Sector Appeals & Grievance 
Reviews Division (PSA&GR) has two main 
functions:

•	 conduct promotion, disciplinary and inability 
appeals in accordance with s.59A through 
s.59G of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act (PSEMA).

•	 provide employees with an independent 
and impartial review of agency actions and 
decisions through the grievance review 
process set out in s.59 of the PSEMA.

The objective is to ensure merit, equity and 
fairness prevail in public sector management 
through education and training, and effective, 
impartial and independent grievance review 
and appeal mechanisms.

Under amendments to PSEMA effective from 
1 January 2012, there is only one Appeal 
Board, which will hear all appeals relating to 
promotion, discipline and inability. The Director 
of PSA&GR has been appointed as standing 
Chairperson of all Appeal Boards.

Appeals in 2011–12
The Promotion, Disciplinary and Inability 
appeal boards operated up until 1 January 
2012 when the three separate boards became 
the one Public Sector Appeals Board. The 
board is an independent body, located for 
administrative purposes within the Public 
Sector Appeals & Grievance Reviews division 
of the OCPE.
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Promotion Appeals
Promotion appeals are now conducted in 
accordance with s.59C through s.59G of the 
PSEMA and Regulations 8 to 9 and 12 to 15 
of the Public Sector Employment Regulations 
(prior to 1 January 2012 s.55 and s.56 of 
PSEMA).

Promotion appeals can only be made by 
existing employees, in situations where the 
selection is a promotion for both the appellant 
and the provisional promotee. The only 
ground of appeal is that the appellant has 
superior merit to the provisional promotee.

Prior to the amendments to PSEMA, the 
board could make only one of three decisions: 
allow the appeal, disallow the appeal or direct 

Promotion Appeals Statistics
Figure 5 – Number and Percentage of NTPS Promotions Appealed

Year Promotions Promotion Appeals %

2003–04 1031 29 2.8%

2004–05 1215 100 8.2%

2005–06 1158 36 3.1%

2006–07 1255 54 4.3%

2007–08 1365 72 5.3%

2008–09 1532 58 3.8%

2009–10 1352 47 3.5%

2010–11 1587 66 4.2%

2011–12 1835 145 7.9%

the agency to re-advertise the vacancy. Now 
s.59E provides much broader and more 
flexible options for the board and states that it 
may either:

a) affirm the decision

b) vary the decision 

c) set aside the decision

d) set aside the decision and return the 
matter to the relevant chief executive 
officer for reconsideration

e) set aside the decision and replace it with 
the appeal board’s decision.

On returning a matter to a chief executive 
officer, the board is able to give any directions 
it thinks fit as to how the matter is dealt with.
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Promotion Appeals Timeliness
The division’s target for completion of 
promotion appeals is six weeks from receipt to 
decision. In 2007–08, the average time from 
receipt of a promotion appeal to completion 
was 8.5 weeks. This timeframe lowered to 
6.6 weeks in 2008–09, and again in 2009–10 
to 5.2 weeks. In 2010–11 the figure was five 
weeks. In 2011–12 the average timeframe 

for completing promotion appeals was 5.8 
weeks. While higher than the previous year, it 
remained within the six-week target and this 
was in the context of 156 promotion appeals for 
the period in contrast to 66 in the previous year.

It is noted that in 2011–12 there were several 
bulk promotion appeals in respect of the same 
selection process, and that this has contributed 
to a higher number of promotion appeals.

Figure 6 – Summary of Promotion Appeals Statistics

2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Appeals carried over 1 9 3 2 0 10

Appeals received 54 72 55 45 66 145

Total handled 55 81 58 47 66 156

Finalised 46 78 56 47 56 156

Allowed 3 1 3 0 2 3

Disallowed 16 29 30 37 17 38

Readvertised/ set 
aside

0 12 2 1 7
58

Withdrawn 4 15 15 8 26 55

Vacated (cancelled) 23 21 6 1 4 2

On hand at end of 
period

9 3 2 0 10 0



5151

Performance Reporting

Disciplinary and Inability 
Appeals
	Disciplinary and Inability appeals are now 

conducted in accordance with s.59A and 
s.59C through to s.59G of the PSEMA 
and Regulations 8 - 10 and 12 -15 (prior 
to 1 January 2012, sections 57 and 58 of 
PSEMA) .

	The Public Sector Appeal Board now hears 
all disciplinary and inability appeals along 
with promotion appeals. 

	In 2011–12 there were nine disciplinary 
appeals completed:

-- one allowed as to penalty (overturning 
the CEO’s decision to terminate 
and substituting a pecuniary penalty 
instead)

-- zero disallowed

-- two settled by agreement between the 
parties

-- three withdrawn

-- two vacated when the employee 
resigned

-- one still pending.

	In 2011–12 there were three inability 
appeals completed:

-- one disallowed and decision of CEO to 
terminate employment upheld

-- one settled by agreement between the 
parties

-- one still pending. 

Section 59 Grievance 
Reviews of Treatment in 
Employment 2011–12
Pursuant to s.59 of the PSEMA, employees 
aggrieved by their treatment in employment 
may request the Commissioner to review the 
agency’s action, intended action or decision.

In 2011–12 a total of 112 grievance reviews 
were handled, compared with 117 in 2010–11, 
127 in 2009–10 and 113 in 2008–09.

The most common issues raised in grievances 
in 2011–12 were, in order of prevalence:

	selection processes

	management action or decision

	application of procedures and policies

	application of conditions of service

	agency handling of bullying and 
harassment complaints

	termination on probation s.59(1) 

	bullying and harassment. 

Section 59 Grievance 
Reviews Statistics
The grievance review unit utilises a flexible, 
outcome-focussed approach to handling 
grievances, focusing, when possible, on 
achieving resolution through discussion, 
negotiation and mediation. This is achieving 
positive results. 

In 2011–12 it was only necessary in respect 
of three grievances for the Commissioner to 
direct an agency to take action or to refrain 
from taking action. Most grievances have 
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resulted in either the Commissioner upholding 
the agency action or the grievance has been 
resolved through the involvement of PSA&GR.

Section 59 stipulates that the Commissioner 
shall conduct a review within three months of 
receiving a grievance or such longer period as 
in his opinion the circumstances require. In the 
past, timeliness in finalising grievance reviews 
was much greater than three months.

In 2006–07, the average time taken to finalise 
a s.59 grievance review was 5.5 months, 
substantially greater than the three-month 
statutory requirement. This improved in 
2007–08 to 3.5 months and in 2008–09 to 
3.2 months. In 2009–10 the average time 

taken to finalise grievances was reduced to 
2.7 months, in 2010–11 it was reduced further 
to 2.3 months. In 2011–12 the average time 
taken to finalise grievances has reduced 
further again to 1.8 months.

Measuring timeliness by individual grievances 
rather than overall average: of the 112 
grievances handled in 2011–12, 19 took 
longer than three months to finalise. This 
means that 83% of grievances were finalised 
within the statutory timeframe. This is an 
improvement from the figure of 76% in  
2010–11, and both results are still under the 
unit target of 90%.

Figure 7 – Outcomes of s.59 Grievance Reviews

Decisions 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Agency directed to take/refrain from taking action 4 8 0 3

Agency action confirmed 23 31 26 18

Agency action confirmed with comment from the 
Commissioner

n/a 8 16 n/a

Resolved through PA&GR involvement 17 29 36 34

Resolved within the agency 7 8 3 11

Resolved by mediation 10 0 2 1

Declined to review (e.g. out of time, no jurisdiction,  
non-employee)

16 9 14 9

Withdrawn 12 15 10 26

On hand at the end of the period 24 19 10 10

Total handled 113 127 117 112
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Figure 8 – Reasons for s.59 Grievance Reviews

Reasons 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Management action or decision 45 46 58 35

Selection processes 26 43 35 43

Application of procedures and policies 18 13 10 3

Application of conditions of service 10 9 4 17

Agency handling of bullying and harassment 12 8 8 7

Termination of probationary employment 0 5 1 4

Bullying and harassment 2 3 1 3

Total handled 113 127 117 112

Merit Selection and 
Recruitment Training
In 2011 the NTPS Employee Survey 
highlighted an underwhelming level of 
confidence that recruitment and promotion 
decisions were appropriately based on 
merit: only 48% of employees agreed that 
recruitment and promotion decisions were fair, 
53% thought their agency had good processes 
and procedures for selecting employees, 
and 51% thought their workplace selected 
employees with the right knowledge, skills 
and ability. Although these results are not 
dissimilar to those in other jurisdictions, the 
NTPS should give priority to achieving greater 
staff confidence in selection processes.

The PSEMA as amended and in effect from 
1 January 2012, included in s.5D a new 
definition of the Merit Principles, which states:

(1) The merit principle is that the employment 
of a person as an employee, or the 
promotion or transfer of an employee, 

under this Act must be based solely on the 
person’s suitability:

(a) to perform the relevant duties

(b) for employment in the relevant 
workplace

(c) for employment in the public sector.

(2) A person’s suitability is to be determined 
having regard to the person’s:

(a) knowledge

(b) skills

(c) qualifications and experience

(d) potential for future development.

Given these circumstances, in consultation 
with HR representatives across the NTPS, 
unions and agencies, OCPE has extensively 
reviewed and updated the Merit Selection 
Guide, to reflect the new Merit Selection 
Principles and good practice guidelines in 
respect of selection processes. 
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A new addition to the guide is the inclusion of 
a schedule setting out Facts vs Myths about 
Merit-Based Selection, which highlights the 
key issues that have emerged around the 
process of merit selection, primarily through 
promotion appeals and s.59 grievances.

OCPE has also developed new training 
programs around merit selection that focus on:

•	 understanding the merit principle

•	 addressing recruitment facts and myths

•	 selection assessment strategies

•	 understanding the importance of 
demonstrated work performance and past 
work experience to assess suitability.

The training includes interactive sessions in 
which participants discuss hypothetical case 
studies, and de-identified case studies are 
used to highlight key aspects. The course 
content will continue to be developed and 
improved.

Initial training programs commenced in June 
2012, primarily targeting HR representatives 
to ensure their understanding of the objectives 
and seeking their feedback to improve the 
training. The training program will be rolled out 
extensively across the NTPS in 2012–13 and 
is supported by the appointment of a Training 
and Grievance Manager. 

Appropriate Workplace 
Behaviour
Following the 2011 NTPS Employee Survey 
and in consultation with union and agency 
representatives, the decision was taken 
to review policy on appropriate workplace 
behaviour. This was timely given the 
impact of the new uniform Work Health and 
Safety legislation, which explicitly includes 
‘psychological health’ in the definition of 
‘health’. 

A new Employment Instruction titled 
‘Appropriate Workplace Behaviour’ 
Employment Instruction 13 was developed 
to replace the former OCPE Bullying and 
Harassment Framework. This employment 
instruction was developed in consultation with 
HR representatives, agencies and unions, 
and came into effect on 29 June 2012. The 
employment instruction:

•	 sets out the requirement for all employees 
to behave appropriately

•	 requires chief executive officers to foster 
a culture that supports appropriate 
behaviour and is free from bullying

•	 sets out the definition of ‘workplace 
bullying’ and ‘inappropriate behaviour’

•	 is issued in accordance with s.16 of the 
PSEMA 

•	 is to be read in conjunction with s.5F of 
the PSEMA (Performance and Conduct), 
Employment Instruction  
Number 3 (Natural justice) and 
Employment Instruction Number 12 (Code 
of Conduct).
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The OCPE is in the process of developing 
a revised training program for ‘Appropriate 
Workplace Behaviours’ and is leveraging off 
some work already carried out in this area by 
agencies such as the Department of Children 
and Families and the Department of Health. 
This training will be rolled out in 2012–13.

Priorities for 2012–13
•	 Continue to implement and provide 

education and training about changes to 
grievance review processes, following the 
commencement of the new PSEMA.

•	 Develop interactive training material and 
provide education and training in relation 
to any amendments to the PSEMA 
definition of merit, the new merit selection 
guide and the inclusion of special 
measures in recruitment and selection. 

•	 Appoint a part-time Training and 
Grievance Manager to assist in 
preparation of training material and to 
deliver training across the NTPS.

•	 Implement and provide education 
about changes to appeal processes 
under the new PSEMA, including the 
change to a single NTPS Appeal Board 
with a standing Chair appointed by the 
Commissioner for Public Employment.
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Outputs 1-3 – OCPE Central Australia
Overview
In Central Australia, the Commissioner is now 
represented by the Director of Regions in the 
Department of Business and Employment. 
The Director of Regions also represents all of 
the OCPE’s business divisions in the southern 
region.

Activities undertaken in Central Australia in 
2011–12 on behalf of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment were:

	Employee Relations

-- employee relations advice to both 
managers and employees, including 
those in remote localities

-- labour inspectorate, which is 
administering the Territory’s private 
sector Long Service Leave Act and 
Public Holidays Act

-- participated on JES evaluation panels 
as the OCPE representative and

-- worked with agencies to resolve 
employee disagreements. 

	Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development

-- promotion of SWP&D policies and 
initiatives in the region, especially, the 
Willing and Able Strategy 2009–2012 

-- participated in the Barkly and Alice 
Springs careers expos.

	Promotion Appeals & Grievance Reviews

-- provided advice and assistance to 
managers and employees. 

	Corporate Governance

-- assisted in the implementation of 
government policy initiatives

-- OCPE representative on the Barkly 
Regional Coordination Committee, the 
Alice Springs Executive Coordination 
Committee and the Alice Springs 
Regional Coordination Committee

-- provided briefings on new initiatives 
and policies

-- chaired the Strategic Workforce Issues 
Action Group (regional HR Managers’ 
group), including:

	 enterprise bargaining briefings

	 provided briefings on new 
initiatives and policies

	 discussed various HR/ER/IR issues 

-- represented the OCPE on various 
other committees and networks.

Priorities for 2012–13
	Focus on regional centre and remote visits, 

including promoting initiatives and policies 
such as the NTPS Indigenous Employment 
and Career Development Strategy.

	Continue work to identify specific regional 
and remote workforce issues that need 
addressing.

	Continue to support the delivery of short 
course training and development programs 
in the regions.
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Governance Framework
Overview
The OCPE governance framework aims 
to ensure the efficient use of resources, 
compliance with statutory and other external 
requirements, and sound administrative and 
financial management practice.

The framework covers the set of 
responsibilities and practices, policies and 
procedures exercised to provide strategic 
direction, ensure objectives are achieved, 
manage risks and use resources responsibly 
and with accountability.

It is about both performance and 
conformance, and also encompasses the 
important role of leadership in ensuring that 
sound governance practices are applied within 
the OCPE and across the NTPS.

Primary responsibility for the governance of 
the OCPE rests with the OCPE Executive 
Management Team.

Corporate Services
Under a shared services arrangement, the 
Department of the Chief Minister (DCM) 
provides the full range of corporate services 
to the OCPE on a fee-for-service basis, 
including:

•	 communications and marketing 

•	 corporate governance

•	 procurement services

•	 office services

•	 financial and budget management

•	 travel

•	 human resources

•	 records and information management

•	 information technology.

Under the shared services arrangement 
with DCM, the Chief Financial Officer and 
Director Human Resources and Information 
are also members of the OCPE Executive 
Management Team. They also represent the 
Commissioner for Public Employment on 
various inter-agency coordination forums.
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Organisational Structure
The OCPE consists of five business divisions 
that deliver outputs as contained in Budget 
Paper No.3.  

Figure 9 shows the high-level management 
and operational structure as at 30 June 2012.

Figure 9 – Organisational Structure

Executive Unit

Commissioner for

Public Employment

Graham Symons

Employee Relations

Executive Director

Brian Mappas

Promotions Appeal and

Grievance Review

Director
Terry Lisson

Central Australia*

Representative
Ian Low

Human Resources and

Information*

Director
Zelma Collins

Financial Management*

Chief Financial Officer
Shelley Hewitt

Strategic Workforce

Planning and

Development

Executive Director
Jenny Stephensen

*positions held by NTPS staff external to OCPE
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Committee Structure
Executive Management Team
Purpose
The Executive Management Team has a 
critical role in ensuring effective performance 
and accountability by:

	ensuring the OCPE has clearly established 
goals and objectives

	ensuring strategies for achieving those 
goals and objectives are appropriate and 
understood by management and staff 

	monitoring quality control systems 
and, where necessary, implementing 
corrective action to improve systems and 
performance.

Executive Management Team decisions are 
conveyed to staff at staff meetings, which are 
conducted at whole-of-office and business 
division levels.

Circulation of Minutes and Reports
The Executive Management Team supports 
the dissemination of minutes and notes 
throughout the OCPE for the information of 
staff. Minutes of the Executive Management 
Team meetings and Coordination Committee 
reports are posted on the OCPE intranet and 
are accessible by all staff.

Membership
Executive Management Team members at  
30 June 2012 were:

GRAHAM SYMONS
Commissioner for Public 
Employment

Graham commenced as 
CPE for the Northern 
Territory in September 2011. 
He joined the Northern 
Territory Public Service in 
1984 and held a number of senior positions, 
including: Chief Executive, Department of 
Business and Employment; Chief Executive, 
Department of Corporate and Information 
Services; Chief Executive, Territory Housing; 
Deputy Chief Executive (Policy), Department 
of the Chief Minister; Deputy Under-Treasurer 
(Finance and Corporate); and Deputy 
Chief Executive, Department of Health and 
Community Services.

Prior to joining the NTPS Graham worked in 
the South Australian Public Service from 1972 
to 1983.

Graham has tertiary qualifications in science, 
social administration and business. He 
is a fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, a Graduate Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
President of the NT Division of the Institute of 
Public Administration of Australia.
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BRIAN MAPPAS
Director, Employee 
Relations

Brian joined the OCPE 
in 1996 following more 
than 10 years’ experience 
in employee relations 
in the Department of 
Employment, Education and Training. Other 
NT departments Brian has worked for include 
Treasury, Community Services and Primary 
Industries and Fisheries. He has extensive 
senior experience in industrial relations 
and human resource management and 
holds a Bachelor of Business (majoring in 
management) and an Associate Degree in 
Legal Studies.

JENNY STEPHENSEN
Director, Strategic 
Workforce Planning and 
Development

Jenny has worked in 
both federal and state 
government for more than 
30 years. With a Bachelor 
of Science and a Master of Organisational 
Development and Training, her background 
is in workforce capability and workforce 
planning. She returned to the OCPE in 
2010 after a four-year gap, which saw her 
working on a secondment to the Alberta 
Public Service in Canada followed by a stint 
in the Department of Health and Families as 
Director, Strategic Workforce Planning. Jenny 
has also worked in East Timor on a project to 
develop a strategic workforce plan for the civil 
service. In 2010 Jenny was a finalist in the 
Australian Institute of Management Manager 
of the Year Award.

TERRY LISSON
Director, Promotion 
Appeals and Grievance 
Reviews

Terry joined the OCPE in 
January 2008 from the 
position of Director of 
Conciliation, Policy and Law 
at the NT Anti-Discrimination Commission, 
where she had worked for the previous six 
years. Terry holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours 
Psychology) and a Bachelor of Laws and, in 
addition to many years working as a practising 
lawyer in both Canada and Australia, has 
extensive training and experience in complaint 
handling, conflict resolution, conciliation and 
mediation.

IAN LOW
Commissioner’s 
Representative, Alice 
Springs

Ian joined the NTPS in 
1996 after 23 years with 
the Australian Government. 
He worked in many 
federal departments during his time with the 
Australian Government at both the regional 
and central office level (Melbourne and 
Canberra). 

In 1996 Ian moved to Alice Springs and took 
on the role of Corporate Services Manager 
with the then Department of Health. In 
1998 he transitioned to the newly formed 
Department of Corporate and Information 
Services and became the Regional Manager 
in 2000, a position he has held since that time, 
albeit now with the Department of Business 
and Employment. In January 2012 Ian took on 
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the role of Commissioner’s Representative, 
Alice Springs.

Ian has vast experience in senior 
management positions across the public 
sector. His background is Human Resource 
Management together with systems review.

ZELMA COLLINS
Director, Human 
Resources and 
Information

Zelma joined the 
Department of the Chief 
Minister in August 2006 
commencing in the Cabinet 
Office. She currently holds the position of 
Director, Human Resources and Information 
and provides support to the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment. Zelma 
has more than 20 years of public sector 
experience in the Northern Territory and 
has worked in a number of roles in NTPS 
agencies, including the Department of Health 
and Community Services, Department of 
Industries and Business and the Department 
of Asian Relations, Trade and Industries. 
Zelma has a Bachelor of Business and 
a Graduate Certificate in Emergency 
Management.

SHELLEY HEWITT
Chief Financial Officer

Shelley brings more than 
15 years of financial 
management experience 
and expertise to OCPE. 
In her role as Chief 
Financial Officer, Shelley 
directs all financial aspects of the agency, 
including accounting practices, budgeting, 
financial analysis, and monitoring of financial 
performance. 

Prior to joining OCPE, Shelley held various 
challenging positions as Finance Manager 
of the City of Palmerston and Manager of 
Management Accounting for both Darwin 
City Council and the Power and Water 
Corporation.

Shelley holds a CPA and a Bachelor of 
Commerce from Deakin University.
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Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
The OCPE Audit and Risk Management 
Committee comprises a subset of the 
OCPE Executive Management Team 
members, as well as an independent 
external representative. The functions and 
responsibilities of the committee are to:

•	 monitor the adequacy of the OCPE’s 
internal control environment, including risk 
management and related policies, practices 
and procedures

•	 oversee the internal audit functions, liaise 
with external auditors and monitor the 
implementation of internal and external 
audit recommendations

•	 undertake any other functions and activities 
that the committee considers relevant to its 
primary objective. 

Membership 

Chair: Shaun Hardy, Executive Director, 
Corporate Governance (DCM)

Members: Brian Mappas, Director,  
Employee Relations

Jenny Stephensen, Director, 
Strategic Workforce, Planning and 
Development 

Terry Lisson, Director,  
Promotions, Appeal and Grievance 
Review 

Katrina Harding, Director, 
Business, Improvement and 
Reporting  (DBE)

Xenia Heynen, Project Officer 
Corporate Governance (DCM)

Observers: Shelley Hewitt, Chief Financial 
Officer (DCM)

 Susan Cooper, Auditor-General’s 
representative

The committee meets quarterly. 



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2011 -12

6464

Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee
The OCPE has an Occupational Health and 
Safety (OH&S) Committee that consists of 
a representative of the Commissioner and 
elected representatives from each division 
(Employee Relations, Strategic Workforce 
Planning and Development and Promotion 
Appeals and Grievance Review). 

With the commencement of the Work Health 
and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 
in 2012, OCPE:

•	 consulted staff regarding staff 
representation on the OH&S Committee 
and the scope of committee responsibilities

•	 established a new committee, including 
elected staff representatives from each 
division

•	 revised the OCPE OH&S policy

•	 revised the OH&S Management Plan and 
had it audited by the DBE OH&S Advisory 
Unit.

The committee met three times during the 
reporting period.

Representatives from Human Resources in 
the DCM and the OH&S Advisory Unit of the 

DBE attended meetings of the committee in 
an ex officio capacity. Activities undertaken by 
the committee included:

•	 updating first aid officer checklists

•	 preparing for the commencement of the 
Work Health and Safety (National Uniform 
Legislation) Act, including arrangements 
that would need to be put in place for the 
new OH&S committee

•	 development of the OCPE gap analysis 
and management system in conjunction 
with DCM and OH&S advisory in DBE

•	 organisation of training for the OH&S 
committee about the legislative framework 
for OH&S under the new Act

•	 recommendation that the OCPE promote 
employee health and wellbeing programs.

Membership 

Chair: Mark Hathaway,  
Principal Consultant

Members:  Damian Doherty,  
Senior Consultant

Winnie Liu, Administration Officer

Melissa Hanlon,  
Program Coordinator

Cassie Harradine,  
Human Resource Consultant 
(DCM)

Bruce McKinley, OH&S 
Consultant, DBE 

The committee meets quarterly. 
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Information Management Committee 
The Information Management Committee 
is responsible for information and 
communications technology (ICT) matters 
within OCPE and the DCM. The committee 
undertook a review of its Terms of Reference 
and these were endorsed during the reporting 
period. 

The committee meets quarterly to consider 
information management issues impacting 
on DCM and OCPE’s working environments. 
The OCPE complies with standard Northern 
Territory Government ICT practice, and 
outsources services for desktop, messaging, 
telecommunications and mainframe 
applications. The goals and accountabilities of 
the committee include:

	setting strategic directions, priorities and 
standards for ICT projects and resources 
and authorising and monitoring the 
development and implementation of ICT 
and information systems

	ensuring all ICT and information 
management business investments are 
strategic and operate to the net benefit 
of OCPE, by reviewing and approving 
business cases to ensure technology and 
information resources are optimised

	identifying and developing management 
strategies that facilitate compliance with 
standards and optimise risks and benefits 
to OCPE in the use of information, records, 
technology and telecommunications

	overseeing the ongoing review of 
OCPE’s ICT policy framework to ensure 
effectiveness in the management and use 
of ICT resources.

Membership 

Chair: Rod Applegate, Deputy Chief 
Executive (DCM)

Members:  Zelma Collins, Director, Human 
Resources and Information (DCM)

 Shelley Hewitt, Chief Financial 
Officer (DCM)

 Jenny Tiernan, Senior Adviser 
Corporate Services (OCM)

 Jenny Stephensen, Director, 
Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development

 Mike Gillam - Director, Information 
Technology (DBE)

The committee meets quarterly. 
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Sustainability Committee
The OCPE aims to ensure that appropriate 
resources, systems and practices are in place 
to support the Northern Territory Climate 
Change Policy. Accordingly, the Sustainability 
Committee was formed during 2011–12 with 
representatives from both DCM and OCPE.

The role of the Sustainability Committee is to:

•	 identify, implement and promote initiatives 
that have positive benefits for the 
environment

•	 monitor energy usage and recycling levels 
within occupied space

•	 consult and work collaboratively with 
agency staff and relevant external 
stakeholders. 

In its first year, the committee focused on the 
following activities:

•	 identification of sustainability projects

•	 publication of interesting facts and green 
tips

•	 reduction of printer usage and hard copy 
subscriptions

•	 reduction of after-hours air conditioning 

•	 engagement of others.

The committee meets quarterly and reports to 
the Executive Management Team.

Membership

Chair: Maria Duchateau, Project Officer 
(DCM)

Members: Carlos Fernandes, Office Manager 
(DCM)

Sally McDonald, Policy Officer 
(DCM)

Pamela Cameron, Policy Officer 

Jo Huyben, Executive Officer  
(DCM)

Brent Campbell, Policy Officer

Jan Wilschefski, Manager 
Corporate Governance (DCM)
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External Scrutiny 
The OCPE is subject to the Northern Territory 
Auditor-General’s audit program under the 
powers and responsibilities established by the 
Audit Act. Audits may include: 

•	 financial statements 

•	 department compliance 

•	 information technology 

•	 controls and compliance 

•	 performance management systems 

•	 any special reviews conducted. 

During 2011–12, OCPE was subject to an 
Agency Compliance Audit by the Northern 
Territory Auditor-General’s Office.  The audit, 
which was unqualified, was assisted by the 
business units of DCM, policies and practices.

The Agency Compliance Audit found that, 
in general, the accounting and control 
procedures examined provide reasonable 
assurance that the responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer, as set out in the 
Treasurer’s Directions and Procurement 
Regulations and Guidelines, will be met if 
those systems continue to operate in the 
manner identified in the audit. However, there 
were several recommendations for minor 
improvements to controls and processes that 
were agreed and are being implemented. 

Other forms of external scrutiny during  
2011–12 included: 

•	 questions on notice from the Legislative 
Assembly 

•	 attendance by agency officials before 
the Estimates Committee in response 
to questions addressing proposed 
expenditure by outputs. 

Improving Communication 
within the OCPE
Effective internal communication is important 
to the OCPE. Listed below are some initiatives 
that enhance communication.

Business Division Meetings
Business division directors held regular 
meetings in 2011–12 to provide information 
and receive feedback on OCPE issues as well 
as meetings on specific issues as the need 
arose.

Executive Information Coordinators’ 
Group
The Executive Information Coordinators’ 
Group, which comprises personal and 
executive assistants from each business 
unit in the OCPE and DCM, played a role 
in ensuring business units had access to 
appropriate information, streamlining and 
standardising procedures, identifying areas for 
improvement and action and building a multi-
skilled succession environment.

During 2011–12 Executive Information 
Coordinators were provided with information 
sessions and training on new corporate 
systems and operational processes.
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OCPE Corporate Matters Newsletter
The Corporate Matters newsletter is 
distributed bi-monthly and provides employees 
with regular, relevant information on financial 
management, human resources and 
information and strategic communications. 
The newsletter ensures all employees are 
made aware of changes to corporate policies 
and procedures and given advice to enhance 
the way they do business.

Sharing Information
The OCPE has a strong corporate 
commitment to sharing information and staff 
are encouraged to adopt this collaborative 
approach to work. The Executive Management 
Team supports the dissemination of minutes 
and notes throughout the OCPE for the 
information of staff. Executive Management 
Team minutes and Coordination Committee 
reports are posted on the intranet.

Community Engagement
The OCPE community includes all employees 
of the NTPS and their representatives, and a 
range of other stakeholders including unions, 
tertiary institutions, community organisations 
and Northern Territory businesses and their 
employees.

Effective external communication is vital to 
the OCPE. Following are the key methods of 
external communication maintained during 
2011–12. The Commissioner also meets on 
a regular basis with agency chief executives 
and unions and maintains regular contact with 
commissioners from other jurisdictions.

Human Resource Directors
OCPE holds a meeting with agency HR 
directors every two months to obtain input into 
policy and programs and to ensure effective 
coordination in the implementation of HR 
policies and programs across the NTPS.

Public Sector Consultative Council
The council includes representatives from 
agencies and unions and meets three times 
each year to address whole-of-service HR 
issues.

Public Sector Development Board
The board was formed in November 2011 to 
provide advice and assist the Commissioner 
to lead strategic reforms to enhance the 
performance and capability of the public 
sector. The board, which includes central 
agency chief executives and the Vice 
Chancellor of CDU, met three times in the 
reporting period.

Human Resources Forum
The OCPE hosts an HR forum on a regular 
basis for HR and non-HR practitioners to gain 
a better understanding of current issues and 
initiatives. HR forums cover a range of topics 
presented by the OCPE, NTPS agencies and 
external stakeholders.

Internet and Intranet
The OCPE internet and intranet sites provide 
timely and relevant information across the 
NTPS and to broader stakeholders. The sites 
are user friendly, providing ready access to 
the latest updates, news and features and 
links to programs, policies and legislation.



6969

Corporate Governance

Information and Office 
Services
Information and Communications 
Technology
The OCPE operates within the standard 
NTG ICT environment, which subscribes 
to outsourced services including desktop, 
messaging, telecommunications and 
mainframe applications.

Achievements during 2011–12 include:

	continued implementation of the OCPE 
Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) Strategic Plan for  
2010–12

	commenced a revision and review of all 
ICT policies and procedures

	undertook a trial of the Microsoft Lync 
corporate messaging, voice over IP and 
video conferencing software suite

	investigated an upgrade of the OCPE 
intranet 

	coordinated a successful refresh of all 
OCPE desktop ICT assets, including 
personal computers and displays

	created an efficient online conference and 
meeting room booking system to replace 
the manual arrangements previously made 

	established a pilot group for the trial of 
Microsoft Office 2010.

Records Management
During the reporting period, the Records 
Management team was focused on improving 
records management efficiency for OCPE. 
Best-practice guidelines were developed 
to assist with the organisation of internal 
processes, and information sheets are 
available on the intranet to assist employees 
with records management activities. 
The courier services were reviewed and 
centralised to allow for more efficient resource 
use. Additionally, a back log of legacy records 
(files) were transferred to the secure off-site 
storage environment at Iron Mountain.

Access to Information
The Northern Territory of Australia Information 
Act came into effect on 1 July 2003.  

The Act covers Freedom of Information issues, 
privacy, records and archives management, 
and affects how NTPS organisations collect, 
use and store government and personal 
information. 

In most cases, employees can obtain their 
own employment-related information held by 
the OCPE more quickly under the PSEMA, 
rather than applying for access under the 
Information Act. More information is available 
at www.ocpe.nt.gov.au/foi. 

The policies and procedures have been 
designed to assist people in accessing 
information and to request corrections to 
personal information.
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Applications under the Information Act
The OCPE processed one application for 
access to information, which was received in 
2010–11 and carried over to 2011–12. The 
application was completed in August 2011.

No requests for internal review were received 
and no complaints were submitted to the 
Information Commissioner.

Privacy
The Information Act establishes 10 Information 
Privacy Principles to govern the collection, 
use, storage and management of personal 
information by Northern Territory Government 
agencies.

There were no privacy breaches reported in 
2011–12.



7171

Our People

Our People



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2011 -12

7272

Workforce Management
Overview
The OCPE is dedicated to fostering a work 
environment that assists employees to 
maintain a healthy work/life balance and 
make informed choices about flexible work 
arrangements. It aims to attract and retain 
high-quality employees by offering a range 
of workplace initiatives, experiences and 
opportunities. 

The OCPE is committed to developing our 
own staff so we can continue to provide 
professional strategic leadership and 
workforce capability advice to our clients. The 
OCPE is supported by the DCM’s Human 
Resource unit, and together we strive to:

•	 continue to strengthen employees’ 
capability through learning, collaboration, 
multi-skilling and training targeted to 
OCPE’s needs

•	 shape OCPE’s internal Human Resources 
capability for the future, through strategic 
workforce planning, development 
programs, nurturing of a positive work 
environment and recognition of the 
significant contributions made by our 
employees

•	 plan, develop and implement internal 
policies and procedures that emphasise 
and encourage equity, diversity and 
flexibility of employment conditions to 
ensure that OCPE can continue to attract, 
retain and develop quality employees.

To ensure compliance with changes to 
the PSEMA from 1 January 2012, several 
corporate policies were reviewed and 
endorsed by the OCPE Management Team 
after input from employees. The following 
policies and procedures were revised in 
2011–12:

•	 Performance Management Framework

 - policy and user guide

 - performance agreement

 - learning and development plan

 - guide to giving and receiving feedback

 - conversation guide and notes

•	 Meal Allowance

•	 Temperate Clothing Allowance

•	 Special Leave Without Pay

•	 Probation

•	 Overtime and Time off in Lieu

•	 Disclosure of Interests

•	 Employee Records

•	 Higher Duties Allowance

•	 Internal Grievance Handling.
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Demographics
At 30 June 2012, OCPE employed 37 staff 
(including three employees on long-term 
paid leave), compared with 28 employees 
at 30 June 2011. The increase is due to the 
transfer of the short-course training function 
from the DBE to OCPE.

Just under three quarters of OCPE employees 
are female, and there is an even number of 

male and female employees in Executive 
Contract Officer positions.

Fifty-one percent of employees are aged 
between 26 and 45 years, and 35% of 
employees have served greater than 10 years 
with the NTPS.

Thirty-five percent of OCPE employees are 
at the AO7 level, with approximately equal 
numbers in more junior levels as in more 
senior levels.

Figure 10 – Snapshot at 30 June 2012
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Figure 11 – Position Allocations Across the OCPE
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Figure 12 – Gender by Classification
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Figure 13 – Staffing by Classification

1

10

0

1

2

3

4

6

5

2

1

8

7

10

9

E
C
O
6

E
C
O
2

E
C
O
1

S
A
O
1

A
O
4

A
O
6

A
O
7

E
C
O
5*

S
A
O
2

A
O
3

A
O
2

A
O
5

1

4

3 3 3

4

3

2

* Previous Commissioner on long service leave pending retirement

Figure 14 – Staffing by Age
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Figure 15 – Staffing by Length of Service in Years
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Recruitment

Staffing Profile of New Commencements
Six employees commenced with the OCPE 
during the reporting period. Of these, all six 

Figure 16 – Staffing Profile of New Commencements
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were temporary, one was male and five were 
female. Four employees were full-time and 
two were part- time.

Staffing Profile of Separations
There were no resignations from the OCPE during the reporting period.
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Workforce Planning
During the reporting period, the OCPE 
continued with its Workforce Plan for  
2010–2012, which aligns the needs of the 
agency with its workforce. In a labour force in 
which skilled people are in demand, the OCPE 
continued to make progress on its four key 
challenge areas.

1. Strong data, evidence and analysis 
systems

	- Ongoing review of the information 
on the OCPE intranet to provide a 
resource that is dynamic and user 
friendly and that adopts technological 
advances.

	- The OCPE website was reviewed 
and revitalised to make it more user 
friendly, accurate and accessible. 

2. Recruitment, attraction and retention of 
talent

	- Recruitment and Selection policy and 
guidelines updated in line with changes 
to the PSEMA from 1 January 2012.

	- Job Evaluation Questionnaire and job 
description audits undertaken every  
12 months to ensure currency.

	- OCPE continued its commitment to 
the development of open and fair 
recruitment, selection and promotion 
procedures for all employees through 
application of equal employment 
opportunity principles.

	- Smooth migration to the NTPS eRecruit 
system from 23 April 2012.

	- Indigenous employees actively 
supported with study assistance and 
opportunities to attend leadership, 
mentoring and coaching workshops.

3. Building a learning organisation

	- One employee attended Understanding 
Responsible Government pilot 
program.

	- Three employees attended Policy 
Development: Shaping Public Action 
pilot program.

	- One employee attended Emotionally 
Intelligent Leadership program.

	- Six employees attended the 2011 
Industrial Relations Society of the 
Northern Territory  Annual Convention 
and Gala Dinner. 

	- Two employees attended cross-cultural 
training.

	- Five employees attended BOXI HR 
training.

	- Four employees attended Strategic 
Thinking training.

	- Six employees attended ANZSOG 
‘Leadership for Change Agents’ course.

	- Two employees attended ANZSOG 
‘Working Across Organisational 
Boundaries’ course.

	- Four employees attended the 
Australian Human Resources Institute 
(AHRI) HR Practices Day 2012.
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	- The Performance Management 
Framework was updated to reflect 
changes to the PSEMA and 
performance management descriptors.

	- Training calendar takes into account 
the needs of staff as identified through 
Learning and Development Plans, 
through the Performance Management 
Framework process.

4. Happy and healthy work environment

	- Promotion of positive and healthy 
workplace strategies, such as 
workplace massages, Life. Be In It 
Corporate Challenge events, Zumba, 
boxing and Yogalates classes via 
e-bulletin, Corporate Matters newsletter 
and the intranet.

	- Promotion of work/life balance 
initiatives and flexible working 
arrangements. 

	- Employee Assistance Program 
regularly promoted through Corporate 
Matters newsletter.

Performance Management
OCPE’s performance management framework 
was revised during the reporting period to 
incorporate changes to the PSEMA from 
January 2012. The framework encourages 
regular informal performance conversations 
between employees and their managers, and 
provides extensive advice on how to give and 
receive feedback and structure performance 
conversations. 

Employees complete a formal conversation 
with their managers as the first step of 
the performance management cycle, from 

which a performance agreement is created. 
The performance agreement outlines the 
outcomes required for the year, how they 
can be achieved, and the employee’s 
development goals. Progress against the plan 
is appraised via regular informal performance 
conversations and a formal mid-cycle review.

The NTPS Capability and Leadership 
Framework (CLF) is an integral part 
of OCPE’s performance management 
framework. Employees outline how they 
demonstrate CLF behaviours as part of 
performance agreements, and an innovative 
CLF self-assessment tool has been developed 
that provides employees and managers 
with a visual representation of performance 
against CLF behaviours. The tool allows for 
easy identification of capability strengths and 
gaps and helps to reinforce performance 
conversations. 
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NTPS Employee Survey
Of the OCPE staff, 83% completed the 
September 2011 NTPS Employee Survey. The 

agency scored better than the NTPS average 
on all items and significantly improved on its 
2009 survey results 

Figure 17 – NTPS Employee Survey Comparison 
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These generally very good results reflect, 
at least in part, OCPE’s effort to address 
issues identified in the 2009 survey results. 
Particularly pleasing were the strong scores 
in the categories of leadership, accountability, 
employee consultation, community service 
and apolitical/impartial/ethical. 

No staff reported that they had been subject to 
bullying and harassment (13% in 2009).

As part of 2011–12 strategic planning 
discussions, OCPE identified three areas in 
the 2011 results that required particular focus 
in 2012–13:

•	 ‘Rewarding workplace’: although the overall 
2011 result was a slight improvement on 
2009, it was resolved that a small agency 
like OCPE has the potential to do better.

•	 ‘Performance management’: only 70% of 
OCPE respondents said they had received 
individual performance feedback in the last 
12 months. It was resolved that the target 
should be 100%.

•	 ‘Using feedback from customers: 84% 
of OCPE respondents scored this in the 
positive. It was resolved that this area 
needed more work.

A number of specific actions were approved 
by the Executive Management Team to 
address these result areas.

Equity and Diversity
The OCPE leads by example in its approach 
to equity and diversity by promoting 
and maintaining a culture of inclusion, 
encouragement and genuine opportunity for all.  

All new and existing OCPE employees are 
encouraged to attend cultural awareness 
sessions, which focus on Indigenous 
culture. Newly provided and well received 
in 2011–12 was multicultural awareness 
training, which teaches strategies for working 
and communicating with the diverse ethnic 
groups that make up the unique Territory 
demographic.

The OCPE continues to progress initiatives 
developed under the 2010–2012 Equal 
Employment Opportunity (EEO) Plan, which 
aligns with the NTPS Indigenous Employment 
and Career Development Strategy 2010–2012 
and the Willing and Able Strategy 2009–2012 
to promote and maintain a fair and equal 
working environment for employees.

One key initiative of the EEO plan is to 
support the career progression of people from 
EEO groups to enable effective contribution 
to policy and decision making that affects 
people from EEO groups. OCPE staff were 
given support to attend Indigenous mentoring 
courses and the Shaping, Transforming and 
ealsing Self (STARS) Leadership for Life 
Coaching Clinic aimed at aspiring Indigenous 
leaders and non-Indigenous employees 
working in Indigenous organisations or with 
Indigenous people.



8181

Our People

NAIDOC Week
NAIDOC week, which ran from 3 to 10 July 
2011, is actively supported by the OCPE. 
Employees were encouraged to attend a wide 
range of activities including:

•	 NAIDOC week marches

•	 Darwin Waterfront family movie night

•	 NAIDOC Golf Day

•	 ‘One Mob, Different Country’ State Library 
dance performance

•	 Minibena Larrakia Women Rangers talk. 

As part of NAIDOC week, the OCPE 
also facilitated Mentoring for Indigenous 
employees events in Alice Springs and Darwin 
on 5 and 6 July. The course gave attendees 
an insight into what to expect from mentoring 
and how to initiate and sustain mentoring 
relationships. During the reporting period, 34 
Indigenous employees from across the NTPS 
took part.

Equal Employment Opportunity 
Census Day
An Equal Employment Opportunity Census 
Day is held in June of each year. Employees 
are asked to update their personal information 
in the payroll system so OCPE can access to 
up-to-date information to facilitate workforce 
development strategies and accurate 
reporting.

National Youth Week
The OCPE participates in National Youth 
Week, an opportunity for young people 
to get together, share ideas, give back to 
the community and participate in events. 
A working group of young staff organised 

a social lawn bowls function that was open 
to youth from across the NTPS. Attendees 
had a great time getting to know each other 
and raised $90 for beyondblue, the national 
depression and anxiety initiative. 

 

Disability Day
On 3 December 2011, the OCPE celebrated 
International Day of People with Disability, 
which recognises the achievements, 
contributions and abilities of people with a 
disability.

A gold coin donation morning tea and raffle 
were held, raising $375 for Guide Dogs NT, 
which provides services to people with vision 
and hearing impairments.
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Figure 18 – Staff Diversity
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Health and Wellbeing
OCPE’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was 
developed during the reporting period and 
is managed by the OHS Committee.  The 
strategy provides initiatives to help OCPE 
employees make positive lifestyle choices 
and balance work commitments with health 
activities. It also raises awareness of common 
health issues. Lunchtime fitness classes 
and workplace massages, both initiatives 
under the strategy, were available to OCPE 
employees for the duration of the reporting 
period.

Flexible Working 
Arrangements
The OCPE values work/life balance and 
supports a number of family-friendly and 
flexible working arrangements that meet both 
the needs of the agency and employees. 
These arrangements include working part-
time, flexible work hours, use of recreation 
leave at half pay, working from home and 
purchasing additional leave.

During the reporting period, eight flexible 
working initiatives were approved.

Induction Program
The induction program covers all aspects of 
employment conditions, the purpose of OCPE 
and internal policies and procedures. Two 
OCPE induction sessions were conducted 
throughout 2011–12. All inductees received 
a welcome pack and a presentation on the 
NTPS Code of Conduct.

Learning and Development
OCPE employees complete Learning 
and Development Plans as part of the 
Performance Management Framework. The 
plans allow OCPE to identify training needs 
and develop appropriate training programs. 
During the reporting period, the OCPE 
participated in formal training programs such 
as those provided by the ANZSOG as well 
as internal targeted programs and forums, 
including strategic thinking, emotionally 
intelligent leadership and policy development 
courses. 

The 2011–12 training calendar comprised 
development opportunities such as Cross 
Cultural Awareness Training, Healthy Living 
Talk, the OCPE induction, Selection Panel 
and Chairperson Training, Machinery of 
Government, Understanding Responsible 
Government and Policy Development: 
Shaping Public Action. With the migration 
to the new NTPS eRecruit system in April 
2012, informal training sessions and ongoing 
support has been made available to all 
employees to ensure a smooth transition.

In 2011–12 the OCPE’s expenditure on 
training activities for OCPE staff was 
approximately $29 000.
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Study Assistance
OCPE encourages employee development 
through tertiary study. It supports this by 
offering time off to attend lectures and 
final examinations and consideration of 
reimbursement for completed units.

•	 One employee studying towards a Bachelor 
of Commerce was financially supported 
during the reporting period.

•	 Another employee has been supported to 
study in the ANZSOG Executive Masters of 
Public Administration Program.

Early Career Programs
Graduate Development Program
The Graduate Development Program 
provides recent university graduates with 
work experiences and challenges to develop 
new generations of employees whose ideas, 
ambition and leadership potential will help 
shape the future of the NTPS.

The OCPE participated in the NTPS Graduate 
Program, with one graduate working in the 
Employee Relations division from May to 
September 2011.

NTPS Apprenticeship Program
The NTPS Apprenticeship Program provides 
participants with valuable work experience and 
coordinated training that lead to a nationally 
recognised qualification. The program helps 
to significantly develop young employees and 
strengthen the NTPS workforce.

The OCPE participated in the NTPS 
Apprenticeship Program, with apprentice 
Emily McLean (Certificate III Business) 
working in the Strategic Workforce Planning 
and Development division. 

Reviews and Inability or 
Discipline Appeals
No formal grievances were lodged in the 
reporting period.

Employee Assistance 
Program
The Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
provides a free professional and confidential 
counselling service for employees and their 
immediate family members.

Three employees utilised the EAP service 
during the reporting period.
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Workplace Health and Safety 
(WHS)
The OCPE’s OH&S Committee comprises 
elected representatives from Strategic 
Workforce Planning and Development, Public 
Sector Appeals and Grievance Reviews, 
Employee Relations, the DBE (Occupational 
Health and Safety Advisory Service) and the 
DCM.  

During the reporting period, the Work Health 
and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 
replaced the Work Health and Safety Act and, 
following consultation with employees, the old 
committee was replaced with a newly elected 
committee. The constituent components of the 
new committee are the same as those for the 
old committee, though some of the members 
have changed. The old committee had two 
meetings in the reporting period (September 
and December). The new committee held its 
inaugural meeting in June 2012.

Activities undertaken by the committee 
include:

•	 development of a checklist for First Aid 
Officers

•	 preparing the OCPE for the implementation 
of the Work Health and Safety (National 
Uniform Legislation) Act

•	 review of the OCPE OH&S Work Group 
Agreement

•	 assisted the Commissioner to consult with 
employees, which led to the replacement of 
a deed-based work group agreement with 
an agreed policy document for OH&S

•	 worked with the OH&S Advisory Service 
on drafting an OH&S Management System 
(ongoing).

Incidents
There were no incidents reported in 2011–12.

Workers’ Compensation 
There were no new workers compensation 
claims during the reporting period

Workers’ Compensation Claims

Worker’s Compensation Claims 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Claims as at 1 July 1 1 0

New claims 0 0 0

Claims resolved 0 1 0

Claims as at 30 June 1 0 0

Current financial year costs $5453 $2357 0
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Employee Achievements
OCPE fosters a culture of respect and 
recognition with our employees’ personal 
achievements regularly celebrated and posted 
on the intranet.   

Reanna Browne – Rising Star
At this year’s Australian Human Resource 
Institute National Awards, Reanna Browne 
took out the Dave Ulrich HR Rising Star 
of the Year award. The award recognises 
HR practitioners who demonstrate 
excellence through their achievement of 
business outcomes. Reanna has been with 
OCPE (Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development) for just under three years 
and we congratulate her for this outstanding 
achievement. Well done Reanna! 

Priorities for 2012–13
	Continue to develop our employees’ HR/IR 

capacity and capability to build knowledge 
and skills.

	Actively promote and encourage a culture 
of innovation and creativity.

	Conduct a review of the OCPE Equal 
Employment Opportunity Plan.

	Strengthen the leadership capability of 
employees to ensure we have a cache of 
quality leaders for the future.

	Further diversify our employee skill sets 
to ensure we are positioned to deal with 
emerging and increasingly complex 
workforce problems.
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Financial Statement Overview

OVERVIEW
The 2011–12 financial statements and 
notes for the Office of the Commissioner 
for Public Employment (the ‘agency’) have 
been prepared on an accrual basis and are 
consistent with the adoption of the Australian 
equivalent to the international Financial 
Reporting Standards. The statements provide 
information on the operating statement, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity 
and cash flow statement of the agency for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Key results at year end for the agency were:

•	 An operating deficit of $0.16 million. The 
recorded deficit was greater than the 
budgeted target by $0.12 million due 
to committing to the review of the job 
evaluation framework.

•	 Cash of $3.36 million at year end, a slight 
decrease of $0.13 million.

Details of the agency’s performance by output 
group are provided at Note 3 of the financial 
statements.

Comprehensive operating statement 

Summary 2011–12 2010–11
$M $M

Operating Income 7.87 7.22

Operating Expenses 8.03 6.86

Net Deficit -0.16 0.36

The Operating Statement provides information 
on the financial performance of the agency 
during the year. The surplus or deficit for the 
year is calculated by subtracting the expense 
items from the revenue items. For the year 
ended 30 June 2012, the agency recorded a 
deficit of $0.16 million. The recorded deficit 
was greater than the budgeted target by  
$0.12 million as a result of the agency 
undertaking additional unfunded initiatives 
throughout the financial year.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012



8989

Financial Reporting

Operating Income
The agency was funded primarily through 
a Northern Territory Parliamentary 
Appropriation of $5.96 million. Other revenue 
is derived via the Sale of Goods and Services 
of $1.23 million. The agency also recognises 
notional revenue for Services Received 
Free of Charge of $0.68 million through the 
Department of Business and Employment 
(DBE), such as Information Technology, 
Procurement and Payroll services. This 
revenue is offset by notional expenditure to 
the same value. 

Total income increased by $0.65 million to 
$7.87 million. The majority of the increase 
relates to Goods and Services Revenue, 
which increased by $0.48 million from  
$0.76 million in 2010–11 to $1.23 million in 
2011–12. This is largely due to additional 
professional development programs 
conducted by the agency in 2011–12. The 
remainder of the increase largely relates 
to additional notional revenue for Services 
Received Free of Charge from DBE of  
$0.16 million.  

Source of Income

Output Revenue 75.6%

Free of Charge
Services 8.6%

Other
Income 15.7%
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Operating Expenses
The agency’s expenses are recognised 
in three primary categories: employee, 
administrative and grants. In 2011–12, 50% of 

expenditure was related to employees, 37% 
to administrative and the balance, 14%, to 
grants.

Expenditure Comparison ($M) 
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Personnel expenses increased by $0.51 million 
to $3.99 million due to a 3% increase in salary 
from the 2010–2013 Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement.

Administrative expense increased by  
$0.46 million to $2.95 million. This is mainly 
due to an increase in expenditure in the 

following areas: Training and Study expenses 
($0.17 million), Goods and Services Free of 
Charge ($0.16 million) and Consultants’ fees 
($0.12 million).

Grant expenses increased by $0.21 million to 
$1.09 million, in line with parameter and CPI 
increases projected for the financial year.



9191

Financial Reporting

Balance Sheet

Summary 2011–12 2010–11
$M $M

Assets 3.73 3.61

Liabilities 1.17 0.89

Equity 2.55 2.72

During the 2011–12 financial year, the  
agency’s total assets increased by $0.12 million 
from $3.61 million to $3.73 million. The majority 
of the increase was due to an increase in 
agency receivables of $0.27 million, which was 
offset by a decrease in cash and deposits of  
$0.13 million.

Total liabilities have increased by  
$0.28 million from $0.89 million to  
$1.17 million. This increase is a result of an 
increase in agency payables of $0.18 million 
and provisions of $0.10 million. 

Statement of Changes In Equity

Summary 2011–12 2010–11
$M $M

Balance 1 July 2.72 2.33

Accumulated Funds -0.16 0.36

Capital - 0.03

Balance 30 June 2.55 2.72

The Statement of Changes in Equity reports 
on movements in equity balances during the 
year.

Total equity decreased by $0.16 million, from 
$2.72 million to $2.55 million in 2011–12. This 
is due to the operating deficit of $0.16 million.

Cash Flow Statement

Summary 2011–12 2010–11
$M $M

Balance 1 July 3.49 3.03

Receipts 7.06 6.83

Payments -7.19 -6.36

Purchase of Assets - -0.02

Balance 30 June 3.36 3.49

The Cash Flow Statement reports on total 
cash payments and receipts made during the 
financial year.

Overall, the agency decreased its cash and 
deposits by

$0.13 million from $3.49 million to  
$3.36 million. This was mainly due to the 
agency committing to funded initiatives during 
the financial year and utilising the cash 
balances.
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Certification of the Financial 
Statements
We certify that the attached financial statements for the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment have been prepared from proper accounts and records in accordance with the 
prescribed format, the Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s Directions.

We further state that the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance 
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and notes to and forming part of the 
financial statements, presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 
30 June 2012 and the financial position on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

……………………………………………………………….…….     …………………………………………….……………………….

Graham Symons      Shelley Hewitt
Commissioner for Public Employment   Chief Financial Officer 
31 August 2012      31 August 2012
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NOTE 2012
$’000

2011
   $’000

INCOME
Grants and Subsidies Revenue
 Current - -
Appropriation
         Output 5 956 5 933
Sales of Goods and Services 1 176 759
Interest Revenue - -
Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 4 680 524
Other Income 59 1

TOTAL INCOME (1 ) 3 7 870 7 217

EXPENSES  
Employee Expenses 3 994 3 484
Administrative Expenses
 Purchases of Goods and Services 5 2 234 1 921
 Repairs and Maintenance 11 9
 Depreciation and Amortisation 9 23 35
 Other Administrative Expenses (2) 6 681 524
Grants and Subsidies Expenses
 Current 1 089 883

TOTAL EXPENSES1 3 8 033 6 856
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)1 (162) 362

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Asset Revaluation Reserve - -
Changes in Accounting Policies - -
Correction of Prior Period Errors - -

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (162) 362

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

(1) Rounding discrepancy, refer to Note 2 (e)
(2) Includes $0.68 million for DBE service charges

Office Of The Commissioner For Public Employment
Comprehensive Operating Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
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NOTE
2012

$’000
2011

    $’000
ASSETS

Current Assets

 Cash and Deposits 7 3 357 3 488
 Receivables 8 305 33
Total Current Assets 3 661 3 521

Non-Current Assets
 Property, Plant and Equipment 9 65 89
Total Non-Current Assets 65 89

TOTAL ASSETS 3 726 3 610

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
 Payables 10 (445) (267)
 Provisions 11 (728) (628)
Total Current Liabilities (1 173) (895)

Non-Current Liabilities
 Provisions 11 - -
Total Non-Current Liabilities - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES (1 173) (895)
NET ASSETS 2 553 2 715

EQUITY
 Capital (47) (47)
 Accumulated Funds (2 506) (2 668)
TOTAL EQUITY (2 553) (2 715)

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Office Of The Commissioner For Public Employment
Balance Sheet
For the year ended 30 June 2012
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NOTE   Equity at 
1 July 

$’000

Compre-
hensive 

result

$’000

Transactions 
with owners in 

their  city as 
owners

$’000

Equity at 
30 June

$’000
2011–12
Accumulated Funds 2 668 (162) - 2 506
Changes in Accounting Policy  - - - -
Correction of Prior Period Errors - - - -

2 668 (162) 2 506

Capital - Transactions with Owners 47 - -   47
Equity Injections
     Capital Appropriation - - - -
     Equity Transfers In - - - -
     Other Equity Injections - - - -
Equity Withdrawals
     Capital Withdrawal - - - -
     Equity Transfers Out - - - -

47 - - 47

Total Equity at End of Financial Year 2 715 (162) - 2 553

2010–11
Accumulated Funds 2 306 362 - 2 668
Changes in Accounting Policy  - - - -
Correction of Prior Period Errors - - - -

 2 306 362 2 668

Capital - Transactions with Owners 22 - -   22
Equity Injections
     Capital Appropriation - - - -
     Equity Transfers In - - 25 25
     Other Equity Injections - - - -
Equity Withdrawals
     Capital Withdrawal - - - -
     Equity Transfers Out - - - -

22 - 25 47

Total Equity at End of Financial Year 2 329 362 25 2 715

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

Office Of The Commissioner For Public Employment

Statement of Changes In Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2012
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NOTE 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Receipts
 Appropriation 
         Output 5 956 5 933
 Receipts From Sales of Goods and Services 1 106 900
Total Operating Receipts 7 062 6 833
Operating Payments
 Payments to Employees (3 866) (3 491)
   Payments for Goods and Services (2 238) (1 982)
 Grants and Subsidies Paid
   Current (1 089) (883)
Total Operating Payments (7 193) (6 356)
Net Cash From/(Used In) Operating Activities (1) 12 (131) 476

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing Receipts
 Proceeds from Asset Sales - -
Total Investing Receipts - -

Investing Payments
 Purchases of Assets - (19)
Total Investing Payments - (19)
Net Cash From/(Used In) Investing Activities (131) 457

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing Receipts
 Equity Injections - -
  Capital Appropriation - -
   Other Equity Injections - -
Total Financing Receipts - -
Financing Payments
 Equity Withdrawals - -
Total Financing Payments - -

Net Cash From/(Used In) Financing Activities - -
 Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held (131) 457
 Cash at Beginning of Financial Year 3 488 3 031
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 7 3 357 3 488
The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
(1) Rounding discrepancy, refer to Note 2 (e)

Office Of The Commissioner For Public Employment
Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2012
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Index Of Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Objectives and Funding

2 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 

3 Comprehensive Operating Statement by Output Group

INCOME

4 Goods and Services Received Free of Charge

EXPENSES

5 Purchases of Goods and Services

6 Other Administrative Expenses

ASSETS

7 Cash and Deposits

8 Receivables

9 Property, Plant and Equipment

LIABILITIES

10 Payables

11 Provisions

OTHER DISCLOSURES

12 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

13 Financial Instruments

14 Commitments

15 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

16 Events Subsequent to Balance Date

17 Write-offs, Postponements, Waivers, Gifts and Ex Gratia Payments

18 Schedule of Territory Items

Office Of The Commissioner For Public Employment

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
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1. Objectives and Funding

The primary role of the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment 
(OCPE) is to support the Commissioner 
for Public Employment’s statutory 
employer role as defined in the Public 
Sector Employee Management Act 
(PSEMA). The Commissioner is also 
required to provide strategic and policy 
advice to support the minister in achieving 
the minister’s duties under PSEMA.

The OCPE has principal responsibility to 
government in the areas of public sector 
management and industrial relations.

The OCPE identifies emerging issues and 
provides a strategic focus for developing 
a dynamic, highly-skilled and motivated 
public sector.

Key functional responsibilities are:

 - providing sound and timely advice to 
government on all aspects of human 
resource and industrial relations issues 
affecting the Northern Territory Public 
Sector (NTPS)

- supporting chief executive officers and 
agencies to develop and implement 
relevant human resource management 
policies and practices

- representing the interests of the NTG 
in workplace negotiations and tribunal 
hearings as the statutory employer

- coordinating sector-wide executive and 
leadership development programs

- resolving employee grievances 
through appropriate review and appeal 
mechanisms

- developing and implementing 
contemporary workforce management 
practices that position the NTPS as an 
employer of choice, and ensuring it is 
well placed to contribute to the social 
and economic development of the 
Territory.

Additional information in relation to the 
OCPE and its principal activities may be 
found in the annual report.

The agency is predominantly funded by, 
and is dependent on the receipt of, output 
appropriations. However, it also generates 
revenue from the delivery of public 
sector management and development 
programs on a user pays basis to other 
NTPS agencies. The financial statements 
encompass all funds through which the 
agency controls resources to carry on 
its functions and deliver outputs. For 
reporting purposes, outputs delivered by 
the agency are summarised into several 
Output Groups. Note 3 provides summary 
financial information in the form of a 
Comprehensive Operating Statement 
by Output Group. Information about the 
Output Group can be found in the annual 
report.
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2. Statement of Significant Accounting 
Policies

a) Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial 
Management Act and related Treasurer’s 
Directions. The Financial Management Act 
requires the OCPE to prepare financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 
based on the form determined by the 
Treasurer. The form of agency financial 
statements is to include:

(i) a Certification of the Financial 
Statements

(ii) a Comprehensive Operating 
Statement

(iii) a Balance Sheet

(iv) a Statement of Changes in Equity

(v) a Cash Flow Statement

(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the 
financial statements. 

The financial statements have been 
prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, which recognises the effect 
of financial transactions and events when 
they occur, rather than when cash is paid 
out or received. As part of the preparation 
of the financial statements, all intra-
agency transactions and balances have 
been eliminated.  

Except where stated, the financial 
statements have also been prepared 
in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.

The form of the agency financial 
statements is also consistent with the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

b) Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations Issued but not yet 
Effective

At the date of authorisation of the 
financial statements, the Standards and 
Interpretations listed on the following page 
were in issue but not yet effective.
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c) Agency and Territory Items

The financial statements of the OCPE 
include income, expenses, assets, 
liabilities and equity over which the OCPE 
has control (Agency items). Certain 
items, while managed by the agency, are 
controlled and recorded by the Territory 
rather than the agency (Territory items). 
Territory items are recognised and 
recorded in the Central Holding Authority 
as discussed below.

Central Holding Authority

The Central Holding Authority is the 
‘parent body’ that represents the 
government’s ownership interest in 
government-controlled entities.  

The Central Holding Authority also records 
all Territory items, such as income, 
expenses, assets and liabilities controlled 
by the government and managed by 
agencies on behalf of the government. 
The main Territory item is Territory 
income, which includes taxation and 
royalty revenue, Commonwealth general 
purpose funding (such as GST revenue), 
fines, and statutory fees and charges.  

The Central Holding Authority also holds 
certain Territory assets not assigned 
to agencies as well as certain Territory 
liabilities that are not practical or effective 
to assign to individual agencies, such 
as unfunded superannuation and long 
service leave.

The Central Holding Authority recognises 
and records all Territory items, and 
as such, these items are not included 
in the agency’s financial statements. 
However, as the agency is accountable 

for certain Territory items managed on 
behalf of government, these items have 
been separately disclosed in Note 18 - 
Schedule of Territory Items.

d) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative 
information for the 2011–12 financial 
year has been reclassified to provide 
consistency with current year disclosures.

e) Presentation and Rounding of Amounts

Amounts in the financial statements and 
notes to the financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, with amounts of $500 or less 
being rounded down to zero. This can, on 
occasion, cause slight anomalies in the 
financial statement subtotals.

f) Changes in Accounting Policies

There have been no changes to 
accounting policies adopted in 2011–12 
as a result of management decisions.   

g) Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

The preparation of the financial report 
requires the making of judgements and 
estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis for making 
judgements about the carrying values of 
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assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates that have 
significant effects on the financial 
statements are disclosed in the relevant 
notes to the financial statements. Notes 
that include significant judgements and 
estimates are:

• Employee Benefits – Note 2(s) and 
Note 11: Provisions - Non-current 
liabilities in respect of employee 
benefits are measured as the present 
value of estimated future cash outflows 
based on the appropriate government 
bond rate, estimates of future salary 
and wage levels and employee periods 
of service. 

• Contingent Liabilities – Note 15: The 
present value of material quantifiable 
contingent liabilities are calculated 
using a discount rate based on the 
published 10-year government bond 
rate.

• Allowance for Impairment Losses – 
Note 2(p), Note 8: Receivables and 
Note 13: Financial Instruments. and

• Depreciation and Amortisation – Note 
2(k) and Note 9: Property, Plant and 
Equipment.

h) Goods and Services Tax

Income, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of Goods 
and Services Tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred on a 
purchase of goods and services is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax 
Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated 
with the amount of GST included. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the Balance 
Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash 
Flow Statement on a gross basis. The 
GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities 
that are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies 
are disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable or payable unless otherwise 
specified.

i) Income Recognition

Income encompasses both revenue and 
gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of 
the consideration received, exclusive of 
the amount of GST. Exchanges of goods 
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or services of the same nature and value 
without any cash consideration being 
exchanged are not recognised as income.

Grants and Other Contributions

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-
reciprocal contributions are recognised 
as revenue when the agency obtains 
control over the assets comprising the 
contributions. Control is normally obtained 
upon receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their 
fair value. Contributions of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can 
be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated. 

Appropriation

Output Appropriation is the operating 
payment to each agency for the outputs 
they provide and is calculated as the net 
cost of agency outputs after taking into 
account funding from agency income. It 
does not include any allowance for major 
non-cash costs, such as depreciation. 

Commonwealth appropriation follows 
from the Intergovernmental Agreement 
on Federal Financial Relations, resulting 
in Special Purpose Payments and 
National Partnership payments being 
made by the Commonwealth Treasury to 
state treasuries, in a manner similar to 
arrangements for GST payments. These 
payments are received by Treasury on 
behalf of the Central Holding Authority and 
then onpassed to the relevant agencies as 
Commonwealth appropriation.

Revenue in respect of appropriations 
is recognised in the period in which the 
agency gains control of the funds.

Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is 
recognised (net of returns, discounts and 
allowances) when:

• the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of the goods have 
transferred to the buyer

• the agency retains neither continuing 
managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold

• the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured

• it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow 
to the agency

• the costs incurred or to be incurred 
in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably.

Rendering of Services

Revenue from rendering services is 
recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract. The revenue is 
recognised when:

• the amount of revenue, stage of 
completion and transaction costs 
incurred can be reliably measured

• it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow 
to the entity.
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Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it 
accrues, taking into account the effective 
yield on the financial asset.

Goods and Services Received Free of 
Charge

Goods and services received free of 
charge are recognised as revenue when a 
fair value can be reliably determined and 
the resource would have been purchased 
if it had not been donated. Use of the 
resource is recognised as an expense.

Disposal of Assets

A gain or loss on disposal of assets is 
included as a gain or loss on the date 
control of the asset passes to the buyer, 
usually when an unconditional contract 
of sale is signed. The gain or loss on 
disposal is calculated as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the 
asset at the time of disposal and the net 
proceeds on disposal.  

Contributions of Assets

Contributions of assets and contributions 
to assist in the acquisition of assets, 
being non-reciprocal transfers, are 
recognised, unless otherwise determined 
by government, as gains when the agency 
obtains control of the asset or contribution. 
Contributions are recognised at the fair 
value received or receivable.

j) Repairs and Maintenance Expense

Funding is received for repairs and 
maintenance works associated with 
agency assets as part of Output Revenue. 
Costs associated with repairs and 
maintenance works on agency assets are 
expensed as incurred.  

k) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, 
including buildings but excluding 
land, have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated or amortised using the 
straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to 
intangible non-current assets with 
limited useful lives and is calculated and 
accounted for in a similar manner to 
depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class 
of asset are in accordance with the 
Treasurer’s Directions and are determined 
as follows:

2012 2011

Buildings 50 Years 50 Years

Plant and Equipment 5 Years 5 Years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from 
the date of acquisition or from the time an 
asset is completed and held ready for use.

l) Interest Expense

Interest expenses include interest and 
finance lease charges. Interest expenses 
are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred.
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m) Cash and Deposits

For the purposes of the Balance Sheet 
and the Cash Flow Statement, cash 
includes cash on hand, cash at bank and 
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are 
highly liquid short-term investments that 
are readily convertible to cash. 

n) Receivables

Receivables include accounts receivable 
and other receivables and are recognised 
at fair value less any allowance for 
impairment losses. 

The allowance for impairment losses 
represents the amount of receivables 
the agency estimates are likely to be 
uncollectible and are considered doubtful. 
Analyses of the age of the receivables 
that are past due as at the reporting date 
are disclosed in an ageing schedule 
under credit risk in Note 13 Financial 
Instruments. Reconciliation of changes in 
the allowance accounts is also presented.

Accounts receivable are generally settled 
within 30 days and other receivables 
within 30 days. 

o) Property, Plant and Equipment

Acquisitions

All items of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost, or other value, equal to or 
greater than $10 000 are recognised in 
the year of acquisition and depreciated 
as outlined below. Items of property, 
plant and equipment below the $10 000 
threshold are expensed in the year of 
acquisition.  

The construction cost of property, plant 
and equipment includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and 
variable overheads.

Complex Assets

Major items of plant and equipment 
comprising a number of components that 
have different useful lives, are accounted 
for as separate assets. The components 
may be replaced during the useful life of 
the complex asset.

Subsequent Additional Costs

Costs incurred on property, plant and 
equipment subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefits in excess of 
the originally assessed performance of 
the asset will flow to the agency in future 
years. Where these costs represent 
separate components of a complex asset, 
they are accounted for as separate assets 
and are separately depreciated over their 
expected useful lives.

Construction (Work in Progress)

As part of the financial management 
framework, the Department of 
Construction and Infrastructure is 
responsible for managing general 
government capital works projects on a 
whole-of-government basis. Therefore, 
appropriation for all agency capital works 
is provided directly to the Department of 
Construction and Infrastructure and the 
cost of construction work in progress is 
recognised as an asset of that agency. 
Once completed, capital works assets are 
transferred to the agency. 
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p) Revaluations and Impairment

Revaluation of Assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, assets 
belonging to the following classes of non-
current assets are revalued with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying 
amount of these assets does not differ 
materially from their fair value at reporting 
date:  

• land

• buildings

• infrastructure assets.

Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.  

Plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less depreciation, which is 
deemed to equate to fair value.

The unique nature of some of the heritage 
and cultural assets may preclude reliable 
measurement. Such assets have not been 
recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of Assets

An asset is said to be impaired when 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible 
agency assets are assessed for indicators 
of impairment on an annual basis. If an 
indicator of impairment exists, the agency 
determines the asset’s recoverable 
amount. The asset’s recoverable amount 
is determined as the higher of the asset’s 
depreciated replacement cost and fair 
value less costs to sell. Any amount 

by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount is 
recorded as an impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement. 
They are disclosed as an expense 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount. Where the asset is measured at 
a revalued amount, the impairment loss 
is offset against the Asset Revaluation 
Surplus for that class of asset to the 
extent that an available balance exists in 
the Asset Revaluation Surplus.

In certain situations, an impairment loss 
may subsequently be reversed. Where 
an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised in the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement 
as income, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment reversal results in an increase 
in the Asset Revaluation Surplus. 

q) Leased Assets

Leases under which the agency assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

Finance Leases

Finance leases are capitalised. A leased 
asset and a lease liability equal to the 
present value of the minimum lease 
payments are recognised at the inception 
of the lease.
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Lease payments are allocated between 
the principal component of the lease 
liability and the interest expense.

Operating Leases

Operating lease payments made at 
regular intervals throughout the term are 
expensed when the payments are due, 
except where an alternative basis is more 
representative of the pattern of benefits 
to be derived from the leased property. 
Lease incentives under an operating lease 
of a building or office space is recognised 
as an integral part of the consideration 
for the use of the leased asset. Lease 
incentives are to be recognised as a 
deduction of the lease expenses over the 
term of the lease.  

r) Payables

Liabilities for accounts payable and other 
amounts payable are carried at cost, 
which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in the future for goods and 
services received, whether or not billed 
to the agency. Accounts payable are 
normally settled within 30 days.

s) Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for employee benefits 
accumulated as a result of employees 
rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and 
salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities 
arising in respect of wages and salaries 
and recreation leave and other employee 
benefit liabilities that fall due within  
12 months of reporting date are classified 
as current liabilities and are measured at 
amounts expected to be paid. Non-current 

employee benefit liabilities that fall due 
after 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at present value, calculated 
using the government long-term bond 
rate. The OCPE encourages employees 
to utilise their staff provisions, therefore 
the requirement for providing non-current 
employee benefits is not material.

No provision is made for sick leave, which 
is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern 
of future sick leave to be taken is less 
than the entitlement accruing in each 
reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are 
recognised on a net basis in respect of the 
following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits, recreation leave, sick leave 
and other leave entitlements

• other types of employee benefits.

As part of the financial management 
framework, the Central Holding Authority 
assumes the long service leave liabilities 
of government agencies, including the 
OCPE and as such, no long service leave 
liability is recognised in agency financial 
statements. 
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t) Superannuation

Employees’ superannuation entitlements 
are provided through the:

• NT Government and Public Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS)

• Commonwealth Superannuation 
Scheme (CSS)

• non-government employee-nominated 
schemes for those employees 
commencing on or after  
10 August 1999.  

The agency makes superannuation 
contributions on behalf of its employees 
to the Central Holding Authority or 
non-government employee-nominated 
schemes. Superannuation liabilities 
related to government superannuation 
schemes are held by the Central Holding 
Authority and as such are not recognised 
in agency financial statements. 

u) Contributions by and Distributions to 
Government

The agency may receive contributions 
from government where the government 
is acting as owner of the agency. 
Conversely, the agency may make 
distributions to government. In accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 
and Treasurer’s Directions, certain 
types of contributions and distributions, 
including those relating to administrative 
restructures, have been designated 
as contributions by, and distributions 
to, government. These designated 
contributions and distributions are treated 
by the agency as adjustments to equity.

The Statement of Changes in Equity 
provides additional information in relation 
to contributions by, and distributions to, 
government.

v) Commitments

Disclosures in relation to capital and 
other commitments, including lease 
commitments, are shown at Note 14 and 
are consistent with the requirements 
contained in AASB 101, AASB 116 and 
AASB 117.

Commitments are those contracted as at 
30 June where the amount of the future 
commitment can be reliably measured.
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

4. GOODS AND SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE

Department of Business and Employment 680 524
680 524

5. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES
The net surplus has been arrived at after charging the 
following expenses:
Goods and Services Expenses:
 Consultants (1) 504 387
 Advertising (2) - -
 Marketing and Promotion (3) 28 82
 Document Production 51 42
 Legal Expenses (4) 17 3
 Recruitment (5) 99 41
 Training and Study 256 85
 Official Duty Fares 32 36
 Travelling Allowance 13  12
 Agency Service Arrangements 647 613
 Entertainment/Hospitality 39 7
 Information Technology Charges 195 163
 Motor Vehicle Expenses 75 53
 Communications 42 38
 Accommodation 11 15
 Other 225 344

2 234 1 921
(1) Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.
(2) Does not include recruitment advertising or marketing and promotion 

advertising.
(3) Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes 

marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are 
incorporated in the consultants’ category.

(4) Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
(5) Includes recruitment related advertising costs.

6. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Assets Written Down - -
Assets Donated and Gifted - -
Doubtful Debt Expense - -
Write offs and Losses 1 -
Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 680 524

681 524
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

7. CASH AND DEPOSITS
Cash on Hand 1 1
Cash at Bank 3 356 3 487

3 357 3 488

8. RECEIVABLES
Current
Accounts Receivable 45 1
Less: Allowance for Impairment Losses - -

45 1
GST Receivables 44 31
Other Receivables 216 -

260 31

Total Receivables 305 33

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land 
At Fair Value - -

Buildings 
At Fair Value - 106
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (106)

- -
Plant and Equipment
At Fair Value 398 308
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (333) (219)

65 89
Property, Plant and Equipment Valuations
The fair value of these assets was determined based on any existing restrictions on asset use. Where reliable 
market values were not available, the fair value of the agency’s assets was based on their depreciated 
replacement cost.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
The agency’s property, plant and equipment assets are valued at original cost. No impairment has been 
recorded against these assets during the year.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2012 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and 
end of 2011–12 is set out below:
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2011 - - - 89 89

Additions - - - - (1) (1)
Disposals - - - - - -
Depreciation (1) - - - - (23) (23)
Additions/(Disposals) from Asset 
Transfers 

- - - - - -

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2012 - - - - 65 65

(1)Rounding discrepancy, refer to Note 2 (e)
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2011 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and 
end of 2010–11 is set out below:
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2010 - - - - 80 80

Additions - - - - 19 19
Disposals - - - - - -
Depreciation - - - - (35) (35)
Additions/(Disposals) from Asset 
Transfers (1) 

- - - - 25 25

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2011 - - - - 89 89
(1)Rounding discrepancy, refer to Note 2 (e)

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

10. PAYABLES
Accounts Payable  351 89
Accrued Expenses 94 178
Other Payables 
Total Payables 445 267
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

11. PROVISIONS
Current 
Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave and Airfares 605 526
Leave Loading 35 32
Other Employee Benefits 4 4

645 562
Other Current Provisions
Fringe Benefit Tax 13 11
Payroll Tax 40 36
Superannuation 31 18

84 66
Total Current 728 628

Non-Current
Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave - -
- -

Total Provisions 728 628

Reconciliations of Provisions 

Fringe Benefit Tax

Balance as at 1 July 11 12
Additional Provisions Recognised 96 100
Reductions Arising from Payments (94) (101)
Balance as at 30 June 13 11

Payroll Tax
Balance as at 1 July 36 37
Additional Provisions Recognised 77 75
Reductions Arising from Payments (73) (75)
Balance as at 30 June 40 36

Superannuation
Balance as at 1 July 18 24
Additional Provisions Recognised 49 30
Reductions Arising from Payments (36) (36)
Balance as at 30 June 31 18

The agency employed 31.9 full-time equivalent employees as at  
30 June 2012 (26.2 employees as at 30 June 2011).
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

12. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Reconciliation of Cash
The total of agency Cash and Deposits of $3 356 823 
recorded in the Balance Sheet is consistent with that 
recorded as ‘cash’ in the Cash Flow Statement.

Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash From 
Operating Activities

Net Surplus/(Deficit) (162) 362
Non-Cash Items:
 Depreciation and Amortisation 23 35
 Asset Write-Offs/Write-Downs 1 -
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
 Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables (272) (2)
 Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments - 74
 (Decrease)/Increase in Payables 178 21
 (Decrease)/Increase in Provision for Employee 
Benefits

83 (6)

 (Decrease)/Increase in Other Provisions 18 (7)
 (Decrease)/Increase in Other Liabilities

Net Cash From Operating Activities(1) (131) 476

(1)Rounding discrepancy, refer to Note 2 (e)
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 A financial instrument is a contract 
that gives rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 
Financial instruments held by the OCPE 
include cash and deposits, receivables, 
payables and finance leases. The OCPE 
has limited exposure to financial risks as 
discussed below.

(a) Categorisation of Financial 
Instruments

The carrying amounts of the OCPE 
financial assets and liabilities by 
category are disclosed in the table 
below.

2012 2011
$000 $000

Financial Assets   
Cash and deposits 3 357 3 488
Loans and receivables 305 33
Financial Liabilities   
Payables (445) (267)
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(b) Credit Risk

The agency has limited credit risk 
exposure (risk of default). In respect of 
any dealings with organisations external 
to government, the agency has adopted 
a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net 
of any allowances for losses, represents 

the agency’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk without taking account of the 
value of any collateral or other security 
obtained.

Receivables

Receivable balances are monitored 
on an ongoing basis to ensure that 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. 
A reconciliation and ageing analysis of 
receivables is presented below.

Ageing of 
Receivables

Ageing of 
Impaired 

Receivables

Net 
Receivables

$’000 $’000 $’000
2011–12
Not Overdue 305 - 305
Overdue for less than 30 days - - -
Overdue for 30 to 60 days - - -
Overdue for more than 60 days - - -
Total 305 - 305

2010–11
Not Overdue 33 - 33
Overdue for less than 30 days - -
Overdue for 30 to 60 days - - -
Overdue for more than 60 days - -
Total 33 - 33
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The agency’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

2012 Maturity analysis for financial assets & liabilities
Interest Bearing

Fixed or 
Variable

Less 
than a 
Year
$’000

1 to 5 
Years

$’000

More than 
5 Years

$’000

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

$’000

Total

$’000

Weighted 
Average

%
Assets
Cash and 
deposits

3 357 3 357

Receivables 305 305
Total Financial 
Assets (1):

3 661 3 661

Liabilities
Payables (445) (445)
Total Financial 
Liabilities:

(445) (445)

2011 Maturity analysis for financial assets & liabilities
Interest Bearing

Fixed or 
Variable

Less 
than a 
Year
$’000

1 to 5 
Years

$’000

More than 
5 Years

$’000

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

$’000

Total

$’000

Weighted 
Average

%
Assets
Cash and 
deposits

3 488 3 488

Receivables 33 33
Total Financial 
Assets:

3 521 3 521

Liabilities
Payables (267) (267)
Total Financial 
Liabilities:

(267) (267)

(1) Rounding discrepancy, refer to note 2 (e)
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)   

(d)  Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair 
value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. It comprises 
interest rate risk, price risk and 
currency risk. 

i) Interest Rate Risk

The OCPE is not exposed to interest 
rate risk as agency financial assets 
and financial liabilities are non-interest 
bearing. 

ii) Price Risk

The Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment is not exposed to 
price risk as it does not hold units in 
unit trusts.

iii) Currency Risk

The Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment is not exposed 
to currency risk as it does not hold 
borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies or transactional currency 
exposures arising from purchases in a 
foreign currency.

(e) Net Fair Value

The fair value of financial instruments 
is estimated using various methods. 
These methods are classified into the 
following levels: 

Level 1 – derived from quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities

Level 2 – derived from inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable 
directly or indirectly

Level 3 – derived from inputs not based 
on observable market data.
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2012 Total 
Carrying 
Amount

Net Fair 
Value Level 

1

Net Fair 
Value Level 

2

Net Fair 
Value Level 

3

Net Fair 
Value Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets
Cash and Deposits 3 357 3 357 3 357
Receivables 305   305 305

Total Financial Assets: 3 661 3 661 3 661
Financial Liabilities
Payables (445) (445) (445)

Total Financial Liabilities: (445) (445) (445)

2011 Total 
Carrying 
Amount

Net Fair 
Value Level 

1

Net Fair 
Value Level 

2

Net Fair 
Value Level 

3

Net Fair 
Value Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets
Cash and Deposits 3 488 3 488 3 488
Receivables 33   33 33

Total Financial Assets: 3 521 3 521 3 521
Financial Liabilities
Payables (267) (267) (267)

Total Financial Liabilities: (267) (267) (267)

The net fair value of Cash, Receivables, and Payables are based on current market values.

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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2012
$’000

2011
$’000

14. COMMITMENTS

Operating Lease Commitments
The agency leases property under non-cancellable operating 
leases expiring from zero to three years. Leases generally 
provide the agency with a right of renewal at which time all 
lease terms are renegotiated. The agency also leases items 
of plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating 
leases. Future operating lease commitments not recognised 
as liabilities are payable as follows:  
Within one year 72 64
Later than one year and not later than five years 34 14
Later than five years - -

106 78

Grant Commitments
Grant commitments not provided for in the financial 
statements primarily represents tied funding that must be 
applied to designated services or functions as follows:  
Within one year - -
Later than one year and not later than five years - -

15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS

The OCPE has no known contingent 
liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 
June 2012.

16. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 
BALANCE DATE

No events have arisen between the 
end of the financial year and the date 
of this report that require adjustment 
to, or disclosure in, these financial 
statements.
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17.      WRITE-OFFS, WRITE-DOWNS, POSTPONEMENTS, WAIVERS, GIFTS AND EX GRATIA 
PAYMENTS

Agency Agency
2012
$’000

No. of 
Trans.

2011
$’000

No. of 
Trans.

Write-offs, Postponements and Waivers Under the
Financial Management Act
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by 
Delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an 
agency written off

- - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - -
Public property written off 1 2 - -
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover 
money or property

- - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by Delegates 1 2 - -

Amounts written off, postponed and waived by the 
Treasurer 
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an 
agency written off

- - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - -
Public property written off - - - -
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover 
money or property

- - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer - - - -

Write-offs, Postponements and Waivers Authorised - - - -
Under Other Legislation

Gifts Under the Financial Management Act - - - -

Ex Gratia Payments Under the Financial Management Act - - - -
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18.    SCHEDULE OF TERRITORY ITEMS

The Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment does not have any 
Territory items (refer Note 2(c)).
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Charles Darwin University/
Northern Territory 
Government Partnership 
Agreement
Since 2003, the NTG has had a Partnership 
Agreement with Charles Darwin University 
(CDU). In this reporting period the overarching 
aim of the agreement was to continue and 
expand upon the mutually productive and 
cooperative relationship between CDU 
and the NTG that will result in lasting and 
sustainable benefits to the social and economic 
development of the NT.

The Commissioner for Public Employment 
is a member of the agreement’s governance 
committee – the Peak Group. In addition, 
the agency provides funding for sponsorship 
towards the Chair of Governance. More 
information on the agency’s whole-of-
government role with the partnership 
agreement is contained in the Strategic 
Workforce Planning and Development 
Division’s report.

CDU has assisted OCPE recently in delivering 
the writing and referencing workshop for the 
PSMP participants in both Alice Springs and 
Darwin.

Building on this relationship, OCPE has held 
discussions with CDU to explore the possibility 
of the university becoming the preferred 
provider of a number of accredited Vocational 
Education and Training courses that are 
in demand across the sector, including the 
Certificate IV in Front Line Management, 
Certificate IV in Procurement, and the Diploma 
in Project Management. This will build on 
the already successful partnerhip OCPE 

has with CDU in delivering the Machinery of 
Government training program

OCPE continues to work closely with CDU 
and in partnership with the ANZSOG in 
the delivery the Executive Master of Public 
Administration.  

In addition to budgeted projects and activities, 
the OCPE continues to liaise with CDU around 
significant public administration and workforce 
development challenges in the NTPS, for 
example OCPE is currently exploring options 
for CDU to deliver targeted short courses in 
the area of Human Resource Management 
and Industrial Relations.

OCPE has had a long and productive 
partnership with CDU for many years and 
looks forward to continuing this relationship 
under the 2012–2017 Partnership Agreement.

This section provides information in 
accordance with the Non-statutory reporting 
requirements for NTG 2011/12 annual reports, 
July 2012.  

Figure 20 outlines the OCPE and CDU joint 
projects under the CDU/NTG Partnership 
Agreement, including how the projects have or 
are contributing to OCPE objectives. The table 
notes the estimated value of the project and, 
where the project involved the procurement of 
services, whether the procurement accessed 
the standing exemption from the public 
quotation/tender process or was a public 
tender.
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Figure 19 – OCPE/CDU Projects under the Partnership Agreement

PROJECT:  Chair of Governance

How the project has/is contributing to:
Progress to June 2012 Value of project

(standing exemption/ 
public tender)

OCPE objectives CDU/NTG 
Partnership 
Agreement  
2006-2012

Provision of funding to 
part sponsor the Chair of 
Governance position

$50,000pa Grant Fostering 
knowledge and 
skill development 
in governance 
and public 
administration 
practices

Provide academic 
leadership and expert 
advice that assists the 
NTPS in developing 
effective and 
contemporary Public 
Governance and 
Public Administration 
arrangements that 
are characterised 
by quality and 
accountability

PROJECT:  NTPS Machinery of Government courses

How the project has/is contributing to:
Progress to June 2012 Value of project

(standing exemption/ 
public tender)

OCPE objectives CDU/NTG 
Partnership 
Agreement  
2006-2012

Provision of courses 
designed to provide NTPS 
officers with specialist 
governance training for 
effective service delivery

$105 600

Standing exemption

Demonstrating 
OCPE’s 
leadership 
role across 
government in 
contributing to 
the professional 
development of 
NTPS employees

A critical mass of 
University enrolments, 
resident teaching and 
research staff

Courses relevant to 
both industry and 
NTG needs
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PROJECT:  NTPS policy capacity survey in partnership with OCPE, DCM, CDU and a Canadian 
research institute.

How the project has/is contributing to:
Progress to June 2012 Value of project

(standing 
exemption/ 

public tender)

OCPE objectives CDU/NTG 
Partnership 
Agreement  
2006-2012

The aim of the survey is to 
develop a better understand 
of the policy making/advising 
functions of public sector 
employees. The researchers 
want to know who is involved 
in policy work, and what the 
facilitators of and barriers to 
effective policy work are in 
the NTPS.

The research is important 
because of the challenges 
that confront ‘northern’ 
workforces – high staff 
turnover, an ageing 
workforce, a large proportion 
of new staff with limited 
experience of the places 
where they are working, 
and very challenging policy 
environments. The survey 
will help identify the strengths 
and weaknesses in the policy 
making/ advising system 
and provide insights into 
how to take advantage of the 
strengths and address the 
weaknesses.

In-kind support Contributing to 
OCPE’s whole-
of-government 
leadership role

Research programs in 
niche areas

Courses relevant to 
both industry and 
NTG needs
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Insurable Risk
Annual Insurance Reporting 
Requirements
In accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions 
relating to Risk Management – Insurable 
Risk Framework (Section R2.1 Insurance 
Arrangements), the OCPE is required to report 
insurance related information in its annual 
report.

As part of its risk mitigation strategy the OCPE 
has developed a strategic risk assessment 
based on its strategic goals. This is reviewed 
by the OCPE’s Executive Management Team 
regularly.

The OCPE is able to provide the following 
information for the financial year ended  
30 June 2012.

Self Insurance Claims

Figure 20 – Motor Vehicle Claims

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Claims as at 30 June* 1 0 0

Value of Claims $2 297 $0 $0

Average Claim $2 297 $0 $0

*All Motor Vehicle claims relate to accident repairs for NT Fleet Vehicles.

Figure 21 – Workers’ Compensation Claims

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Claims as at 1 July 1 1 0

New claims 0 0 0

Claims resolved 0 1 0

Claims as at 30 June 1 0 0

Current financial year claims $5 453 $2 357 $0

Medical Insurance

A $274 medical insurance premium was paid 
during 2011–12.
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Grants
Workforce Planning & Development

Administration
Institute of Public Administration Australia NT 
Division

National Conference 
Scholarships

10 000

TOTAL  10 000

Remote Workforce Development Funding
Construction Division Remote Workforce 

Development Funding
10 870

Department of Children and Families Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

18 664

Department of Education & Training Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

539 342

Department of Health Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

264 633

Department of Housing, Local Government and 
Regional Services

Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

22 971

Department of Justice Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

12 921

Department of Lands and Planning Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

957

Department of Natural Resources, Environment, 
the Arts and Sport

Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

24 824

Department of Resources Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

3 828

Northern Territory Police, Fire and Emergency 
Services

Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

120 120

Power and Water Corporation Remote Workforce 
Development Funding

9 571

TOTAL  1 028 701

Workforce Development
Charles Darwin University Chair of Governance 

Sponsorship
50 000

TOTAL  50 000

Workforce Planning & Development Total  1 088 701
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Acronyms and Abbreviations
AHRI Australian Human Resources 

Institute

ANZSOG Australia and New Zealand School 
of Government

APSC Australian Public Service 
Commission

CDU Charles Darwin University

CEACR Committee of Experts on the 
Application of Conventions and 
Recommendations

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CLF NTPS Capability and Leadership 
Framework

DBE Department of Business and 
Employment

DCM Department of the Chief Minister

DEEWR Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace 
Relations 

EAP Employee Assistance Program

EDRM Electronic Document Records 
Management

EEO Equal Employment Opportunity

FWA Fair Work Australia

HR Human Resource

IAS International Accounting 
Standards

IASB International Accounting 
Standards Board

ICT Information and Communications 
Technology

IECDS Indigenous Employment and 
Career Development Strategy

ILO International Labour Organisation

IR Industrial Relations

JAQ Job Analysis Questionaire

JES Job Evaluation System

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

NAIDOC National Aboriginal and Islanders 
Day Observance Committee

NTG Northern Territory Government

NTPS Northern Territory Public Sector

OCPE Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

PIPS Personal Informaiton and Payroll 
System

PSDB Public Sector Development Board

PSEMA Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act

PSMP Public Sector Management 
Program

RWD Remote Workforce Development
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Feedback Form
We welcome your feedback on the State of 
the Service Report 2011–12.  

Please tick the relevant box to indicate how you rate the report.

Excellent Good Satisfactory Poor

Overall impression

Presentation and design

Easy to read and understand

Content/information

Which areas of the report were most useful?

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

How do you think the report could be 
improved?

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

Does the report contain the information you 
required?

    Yes             No

If no, please list suggested information to be 
included in future reports.

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

Please indicate where you are from:

    NT Government

    Education or research institution

    Community member or organisation

    Australian Government

    Industry

    Other State or Territory government

    Private sector

Please return your completed feedback form either by email, post, or fax to:

Email:  enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au
Post:  GPO Box 4371, DARWIN   NT   0801
Facsimile:  08 8999 4148

Your comments and suggestions will be used 
in the development of future reports.
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How to Contact Us
Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
Top End
Ground and 4th Floors, Harbour View Plaza 
8 McMinn Street 
(cnr Bennett and McMinn Streets) 
Darwin   NT   0800

GPO Box 4371 
Darwin   NT   0801

Telephone: 08 8999 4282
Facsimile: 08 8999 4148

Email: enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au
Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

 
Public Sector Appeals & Grievance Reviews
Ground Floor Harbour View Plaza 
8 McMinn Street  
(cnr Bennett and McMinn Streets) 
Darwin  NT 0800

GPO Box 4371 
Darwin NT 0801

Telephone:  08 99 4129
Facsimile:  08 8999 4199

Email:  pab.ocpe@nt.gov.au
 grievance.ocpe@nt.gov.au

Web: http://www.ocpe.nt.gov.au/appeals_reviews
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